SERVICE TOOL Landis+Gyr MAP110 USER MANUAL



Revision History

Index	Date	Comments
а	28.02.2005	First edition
b	31.05.2005	Changes to release 1.1
С	22.09.2005	Changes to release 1.2

subject to technical changes

Landis+Gyr AG

Feldstrasse 1 CH - 6301 Zug Switzerland Phone: +41 41 935 60 00 www.landisgyr.com

Introduction

Scope	The present user manual is designed for the Landis+Gyr MAP110 Service Tool Version 1.2 .				
Purpose	This user Landis+Gyr concerning illustrated i	manual contains all information required for the use of the r MAP110 Service Tool. It not only provides explanations functionality and general procedures, but also gives detailed, nstructions on how to use the software.			
Target group	The conter sonnel of parameter	nts of this user manual are intended for technically qualified per- energy supply companies responsible for the system planning, setting and installation of meters.			
Conditions	The Landis+Gyr MAP110 Service Tool runs on personal computers with the Windows operating system. To understand this user manual, you need basic knowledge of Windows and its terms, as well as a general idea of how to operate a personal computer. Furthermore, you need to be familiar with the functional principles of the various meters supported by the Landis+Gyr MAP110 Service Tool, which are described in the corresponding user manuals.				
Conventions	The followi	ng conventions are used in this manual:			
	1. 2. 3.	Ordinal numbers are used for individual steps in the instructions.			
	Extra	Buttons, menu names and individual menu items appear in bold text.			
	[F1]	Keys are shown in square brackets.			
	[Ctrl]+[V]	Key combinations are shown with a plus sign (e.g. [Ctrl] key kept pressed while pressing [V] key)			
	"Options"	Names of windows and elements appear in quotation marks.			

Table of Contents

1	Overview	7
1.1	Functions	7
1.2	User Groups	8
1.3	Functional Range	
2	Installation	
3	Licensing	11
3.1	Licensing Concept	11
3.2	Entering License Data	12
3.3	Changing the License	13
4	First Steps	15
5	Description of User Interface	19
5.1	Overview	19
5.2	Menu Bar	20
5.3	Tool Bar	20
5.4	Selection Box "Select Meter Type"	20
5.5	Selection Box "Modem Connection"	20
5.6	Selection Box "Physical Address"	21
5.7	Selection Box "IP Address"	22
5.8	Command Tree	22
5.9	Display Window	25
5.10	Trace Window	26
5.11	Status Bar	27
5.12	Evaluation Window	27
6	Communication with Meters	29
6.1	Interface to Meter	29
6.2	Communication Settings	29
6.2.1	Communication Profiles	30
6.2.2	Access Levels	33
6.2.3	Addressing Meters	34
6.3	Communication Examples	35
6.3.1	Local Point-to-Point Connection via Optical Reading Head	35
6.3.2	Local Point-to-Point Connection via RS232 Interface	35
6.3.3	Local Multiple Connections via RS232/RS485 Interfaces	37
6.3.4	Remote Point-to-Point Connection via V34b PSTN Modem	40
6.3.5	Remote Multiple Connection via V22b PSTN Modem	44

6.3.6	Remote Point-to-Point Connection via GSM Modem	_48
6.3.7	Local Point-to-Point Connection via Ethernet	52
6.3.8	Remote Point-to-Point Connection via the Internet	55
6.4	Reference to Other Documents	58
7	Application of MAP110 Functions	59
7.1	Read Commands	59
7.1.1	Simple Read Commands	59
7.1.2	Read Commands for Current Meter Data	60
7.1.3	Read Commands for Event Logs	61
7.1.4	Read Commands for Load Profiles	64
7.1.5	Read Command for Emergency Readout	66
7.2	Write Commands	67
7.3	Execute Commands	68
7.4	Diagnostic Commands	69
7.4.1	GSM Installation Support	69
7.4.2	Vector Diagram	70
7.4.3	Security System	71
7.4.4	Load Profile Analysis	72
7.4.5	DIP Table	74
7.5	Auxiliary Functions	76
7.5.1	Displaying Help Topics	76
7.5.2	Displaying the Current Version of the Program	77
7.5.3	Setting Color for Inactive Commands	78
8	De-installation	79
9	Support	81
10	Short Description of Meter Security System	
10.1	Introduction	83
10.2	Security Attributes	83
10.3	Access Levels	83
10.4	Access Levels and their Application	84
11	OBIS Identification Codes	
11.1	General Description	87
11.2	Examples	90
12	Functional Range per User Group	95
13	List of Abbreviations	99
14	Index	101

1 Overview

The Landis+Gyr MAP110 Service Tool is used for reading out billing data and profiles and for changing the most important device parameters. It is able to communicate with all modern electronic meters from Landis+Gyr, which comply with the standards under dlms or IEC 62056-21 (formerly IEC 1107). The Landis+Gyr MAP110 Service Tool is therefore the ideal tool for the service technician.

The following diagram illustrates the various fields of application of the Landis+Gyr MAP110 Service Tool for power supply companies. The field of application of the Landis+Gyr MAP120 Parameterization Tool is also shown.



Most functions of the Landis+Gyr MAP110 Service Tool can also be performed with the Landis+Gyr MAP120 Parameterization Tool. The ease of operation of the Landis+Gyr MAP110 Service Tool is significantly simpler, however, so that its use is recommended.

1.1 Functions

The range of functions of the Landis+Gyr MAP110 Service Tool covers all the following applications normally required for meter installation and in the service sector:

- Billing data readout
- Readout and export of profiles (load profile, stored values and event log)
- Parameter readout and modification
- GSM installation aid for Landis+Gyr communication units (field strength indicators, telephone number information, pin-code handling)
- Analysis and diagnostic functions

1.2 User Groups

To ensure the maximum possible flexibility for users of the Landis+Gyr MAP110 Service Tool, the software can be licensed for various user groups with different functionality:

- Certification (verification authority)
- Engineering (laboratory use)
- Installation (field use)
- Reader (local and remote)
- Consumer (final customer)

The user group is determined by the licence data (see chapter 3 "Licensing"). Each license exclusively applies to an individual user group.

1.3 Functional Range

Only the time and date can be read from the meter with the unlicensed demo version.

The following functions can be performed with all licensed versions depending on the meter type connected:

- With Landis+Gyr **dlms** meters (use of dlms protocol)
 - read commands
 - write commands
 - execution commands and
 - diagnostic functions.
- With Landis+Gyr IEC meters (use of IEC protocol)
 - read commands
 - write commands and
 - execution commands.

The meter connected must support the relevant function for successful application of a function.

Detailed information on the functions which can be performed for all user groups can be found in chapter 12 "Functional Range per User Group").

2 Installation

This chapter describes the installation of the Landis+Gyr MAP110 Service Tool on the hard disk of your personal computer.

System requirements To be able to run the Landis+Gyr MAP110 Service Tool, your personal computer must meet the following minimum requirements:

- Pentium processor with > 400 MHz
- 128 MB of RAM
- 40 MB of free space on the hard disk
- 256 color VGA graphics card and monitor
- CD drive (if software delivered on CD)
- Pointing device (mouse)
- Operating system Windows Server 2003, Windows XP, Windows 2000, Windows 98SE, Windows ME or Windows NT with Service Pack 6a
- Internet Explorer 5.01 or higher must be installed
- .NET Framework is required. If this is not already installed, it is added by the MAP110 installation program.
- MS Excel 2000 or higher must be installed for enhanced diagnostic functions.
- **Installation software** The corresponding installation software is required to install the Landis+Gyr MAP110 Service Tool. This can either be found on the installation CD "Landis+Gyr MAP110" or it can be downloaded to your PC via the Internet from the homepage www.landisgyr.com.
- **Notes** Administration rights are required for the installation, if the Windows NT, 2000 or XP operating system is used on your PC.

If a version of the Landis+Gyr MAP110 Service Tool is already installed on your computer, this must be removed before installation.

Language The required language must be entered when installing. Please note that this can no longer be changed later in the application. A new installation is necessary for any later change of language.

All open Windows applications must be closed before installation.

ProcedurePlease read the file "Readme.txt" with current information about the pre-
sent version of the Landis+Gyr MAP110 Service Tool.

Start the installation file "Setup.exe" and then follow the instructions on the screen.

3 Licensing

This chapter explains the licensing concept and describes the steps necessary for licensing the Landis+Gyr MAP110 Service Tool.

3.1 Licensing Concept

Following installation of the Landis+Gyr MAP110 Service Tool the application is in the unlicensed state, i.e. it can only be used as demo version with reduced range of functions. In order to permit use of the Landis+Gyr MAP110 Service Tool without restrictions, it must be licensed for the intended use. For this purpose the following licensing data can be obtained from the Landis+Gyr representative responsible, which must be entered in the Landis+Gyr MAP110 Service Tool:

- User Name
- User Group
- License Key

The procedure is described in chapter 3.2 "Entering License Data".

The user group determines the functional range of the Landis+Gyr MAP110 Service Tool. The following user groups exist:

- Demo
- Certification
- Engineering
- Installation
- Reader
- Consumer

3.2 Entering License Data

This chapter describes the licensing procedure required for unrestricted use of the Landis+Gyr MAP110 Service Tool. The license data received from Landis+Gyr following your order is required for this purpose.

Procedure:

 Click on Start and then select the Landis+Gyr MAP110 command from the menu Programs, Landis+Gyr MAP110. The Landis+Gyr MAP110 Service Tool is started.



- 2. Select **License...** from the **Extras** menu. The "MAP110 - License" window appears.
- 3. Enter the user name provided by Landis+Gyr in the "User" entry box.
- 4. Select the user group provided by Landis+Gyr in the "User Group" selection field.
- 5. Enter the licence key provided by Landis+Gyr in the "License Key" entry box.

MAP110 - License	×
User.	Herry Miller
User Group:	Installation 💌
License Key:	6034-22FC-C860-2293
	QKQancel

6. Click on **OK**.

The licensing procedure is terminated. The meter types accessible for the user group specified can be selected in the "Select Meter Type" box and the commands available are displayed in the command tree.



The Landis+Gyr MAP110 Service Tool is now ready for use according to the instructions given in chapters 4 "First Steps" or 7 "Application of MAP110 Functions", respectively.

Keep the license key in a safe place

Please note that due to security reasons the license key is not shown anymore if the "License" window is reopened. Keep the license key in a safe place for further use.

3.3 Changing the License

The license can be changed by requesting new license data from Landis+Gyr and entering these in the "License" window (see chapter 3.2 "Entering License Data").



4 First Steps

This chapter gives an introductory example of how a communication connection is made to a meter with the Landis+Gyr MAP110 Service Tool and how data can be read from the meter.



A meter ready for operation and an optical reading head for connection to a serial interface are required for this purpose. The Landis+Gyr MAP110 Service Tool must also be installed on the PC.

Procedure:

- 1. Connect the cable of the optical reading head fitted on the meter to the serial interface of the PC.
- Click on Start and then select the Landis+Gyr MAP110 command from the menu Programs, Landis+Gyr MAP110. The Landis+Gyr MAP110 Service Tool is started.



3. In the selection box "Select Meter Type" select the meter type "dlms meters".

 Open the "Read Commands" folder in the command tree. For this purpose click the symbol
 ⊕ before the "Read Commands" folder or double-click on the folder symbol

 The commands available are displayed, e.g. for the "Installation" user group the read commands for dlms meters:

🖃 🕼 📁 🗐 🗐 🗐				
🖽 🍯 Clock				
🕂 🧔 Profiles				
🗄 🧔 Energy				
🕂 🧔 Demand				
🗄 🧔 Identification Numbers				
🗄 🧔 Communication Settings				
🗄 🕼 🎜 TOU				
🗄 🧔 Meter Diagonistic				
🗄 🧔 Write Commands				
🗄 🌍 Execute Commands				
🗄 🕼 Diagnostic				

5. Select the "Current Values Readout" command in the command tree under "Read Commands" for dlms meters.

A command can be selected in various ways:

- double-click on the command or
- mark the command by clicking it and then click on the "Execute" button above the command tree or
- click on the command with the right mouse button and then select the item "Execute..." in the pop-up menu appearing.

Communication begins after selecting the command and the meter data are read from the meter connected. During this process, which can take several minutes depending on the number of items to be read, the "Communication" window is displayed.



After completing the readout the meter data are displayed in the display area of the Landis+Gyr MAP110 Service Tool.

Salari Walas Tigan Salari Walas Tigan Salari Walas Weidopica 🕑 Cancala	Mades Connection		Presidentes	- HC.544	FABBANA Total 21 (20 (20 (20 (20 (20 (20 (20 (20 (20 (20
Image: Second		UBB Value 547 97 0 0000000 567 126 27 05 2000 564 126 0.0277000 564 126 0.0277700 1452 70 0.06 564 726 0.06 564 726 0.06 564 727 0.06 564 727 0.06 564 727 0.06 564 726 0.06 564 727 0.06 564 721 0.95 564 721 0.95 564 721 0.95 564 721 0.95 564 721 0.95 564 721 0.95 564 721 0.95 564 721 0.95 564 72 0.95 564 72 0.95 564 72 0.95 564 72 0.95 564 72 0.95 564 72 0.95 564 72 0.95 564 72 0.95 564 72 0.95 564 72 0.95	08 (5, 12,00) (8) (9) (10) (10) (10) (10) (10) (10) (10) (10	Desgrown Even staat Dook Antriky Calenda Logia Denies Name Vistage 12 Vistage 12 Vistage 13 Prome Values counter 11 Prome Values counter 13	Bonar Hinler Dagenolitis Indertification Random Indertification Random Installation Cantod Installation Cantod Installation Cantod Installation Cantod Installation Cantod Installation Cantod

6. Examine the data read out in the table in the display area.

By clicking 📕 the data read out can be saved in an XML or text file.

By clicking 1 the data read out can be transferred to the Microsoft Excel table calculation program.

This concludes the introductory example. Further instructions with more detailed explanations are provided in the following chapters.

5 Description of User Interface

This chapter describes the user interface of the Landis+Gyr MAP110 Service Tool.

5.1 Overview

The user interface of the Landis+Gyr MAP110 Service Tool comprises the following areas:

- Menu bar with the "File", "Extras" and "?" menus to call up functions.
- Tool bar with buttons for direct call-up of functions frequently used.
- Selection box "Select Meter Type" for selecting the meter type (dlms or IEC)
- Selection box "Modem Connection" for recording, deleting and selecting modem connections.
- Selection box "Physical Address" for recording, deleting and selecting physical device addresses.
- Selection box "IP Address" for recording, deleting and selecting IP addresses.
- Command tree (left-hand half of window)
- Display window for results (right-hand half of window, top)
- Trace window (log) for recording events, results, error messages, etc. (right-hand half of window, bottom)
- Status bar for displaying characteristic data of the meter connected.
- Evaluation window.

Progl Commends Convert Hales Readout Convert Hales Readout Convert Hales	10001 Value 1447 87.0 00000000 001300 01 05.00 00.05.13 00142.00 00442.00 0.0277750140 1.132.7.0 0.08	Unit Designation Even obsett Dock Schulz Calendar Logist Denne Name	Genae + Hole Dagesten Wele Dagesten
Hate Diagonic Hate Diagonic Hole Diagonic Hole Diagonic Hole Diagonic Tel Rode (Net Tel Rode (Net Tel Rode (Net Termiting Centert: Tesmole (Net Tesmole (Net Termiting Centert: Tesmole (Net Termiting Centert: Tesmole (Net Termiting Centert: Tesmole (Net Termiting Centert: Tesmole (Net Tesmole (1-122/0 2004 1-122/0 2004 3-62/0 2004 3-62/0 900 8-62/1 0/9 1-62/1 0/9 1	V Hotogi L1 V Votagi L2 V Votagi L3 Prove talaet osorte Prove talaet coarte L1 Prove talaet coarte L2 Prove talaet coarte L2	Indextity and Control Installation Control Installation Control Installation Control Installation Control Installation Control

The sizes of the areas for the command tree, display window and trace window can be set individually with the movable separating bars situated in between (click separating bar and move with mouse button pressed).

5.2 Menu Bar

The menu bar of the Landis+Gyr MAP110 Service Tool contains the following menus for selecting functions:

- **File** menu for saving display or trace window data, for opening data saved in the display or trace windows and for ending the application.
- **Extras** menu to call up functions for licensing, communication setting, option setting and emphasising commands available in the command tree.
- ? menu to call up online help and version display.

5.3 Tool Bar

The tool bar of the Landis+Gyr MAP110 Service Tool contains the following buttons for direct call-up of functions frequently required:

calls up the function to open data saved in the display or trace window

calls up the function for communication settings

switches emphasis of commands available in the command tree on or off



calls up the version display

5.4 Selection Box "Select Meter Type"



Selection can be made between meter types "dlms meters" and "IEC meters" in the "Select Meter Type" box for various user groups depending on the type of licensing.

Various commands are offered in the command tree corresponding to the selection made (see also chapter 12 "Functional Range per User Group").

5.5 Selection Box "Modem Connection"

Modem Connection					
9	0795713277 (Gurtnellen	Solar)	-	
not a	available		₽	Î	

The call number of the required modem can be selected in the "Modem Connection" selection box, if a modem is selected as interface in the communication settings. Otherwise the area is deactivated, i.e. set for a local connection.

Moder	m Connection		
9	(local)		-
not a	vailable	Ð	Ī

Clicking 🗐 makes the connection to the call number selected. When the connection is made, the selection box is blocked and the symbol on the button changes its appearance.

Moder	n Connection			
3	0795713277	(Gurtnellen	Solar)	-
conn	ected		Ð	Î

Clicking 🛅 interrupts the modem connection.

Clicking Dens the "MAP110 - Add Modem Connection" window, in which a new call number and associated designation can be recorded.

Clicking opens the "MAP110 - Edit Modem Connection" window, in which the entry selected in the selection field can be modified.

Clicking I deletes the entry selected in the selection box.

Selection Box "Physical Address" 5.6



The physical device addresses for the required meter can be selected in the "Physical Address" selection box, provided the check box is marked.

The physical device address is required for addressing meters with multiple connection. It is also used as device access protection.

The selection available is assigned to a specific communication connection, e.g. to the local connection or a modem connection selected. This ensures that only the addresses recorded for this connection can be selected.

Clicking 🖾 opens the "MAP110 - Add Physical Address" window, in which a new physical IEC and HDLC device address and an associated designation can be recorded.

Clicking 🔟 opens the "MAP110 - Edit Physical Address" window, in which the entry selected in the selection field can be modified.



Clicking \square deletes the entry selected in the selection box.

5.7 Selection Box "IP Address"



The IP address and port number of the communication unit of the required meter can be selected in the "IP Address" selection box, provided the interface "Ethernet" is selected in the communication profile settings. Otherwise the area is deactivated.

IP Address			
192.168.1.31:10	100 (Dis	tribution ^v	We
		₽	Ī
L			

Clicking Dens the "MAP110 - Add IP Address" window, in which a new IP address and port number and an associated designation can be recorded.

Clicking Opens the "MAP110 - Edit IP Address" window, in which the entry selected in the selection field can be modified.

Clicking \fbox deletes the entry selected in the selection box.

5.8 Command Tree



All commands available for the user group and meter type set (see also chapter 5.4 "Selection Box "Select Meter Type") are displayed in a tree representation.

Tree representation A tree representation, e.g. as generally familiar from the file system tree of Windows Explorer, is ideally suited for clear presentation of ordered structures (e.g. of files placed in folders and sub-folders).

Tree itemsFor the Landis+Gyr MAP110 Service Tool the command tree consists of a
hierarchic arrangement of tree items (folders and commands).

Tree items are represented as follows:

- 5 Folders
- Read commands for values (meter values, profiles, etc.)
- Read or write commands for date and time
- 2 Read commands for parameters (e.g. read identification number)
- Write commands for parameters (e.g. write identification number)
- Execute commands (e.g. reset register)
- Excel evaluation (e.g. load profile analysis)
- GSM installation support
- Vector diagram
- JIP table
- Emergency readout

Folder handling Each folder can be expanded and collapsed individually.

Collapsed folder items are preceded by an expansion sign \boxdot , expanded folder items by a collapse sign $\boxdot.$

To expand or collapse folders there are the following possibilities:

Using the mouse:

- Clicking on the expansion sign
 → of a folder expands this folder (the expansion sign changes to a collapse sign
 □).
- Clicking on the collapse sign ☐ of a folder collapses this folder (the collapse sign changes to an expansion sign ∃).
- The relevant folder is opened or closed by double-clicking in the text following.

Using the keyboard:

- Pressing the "*" key of the numerical keyboard expands the whole tree below the selected folder (i.e. all subfolders and commands will be visible).
- Pressing the "/" key of the numerical keyboard collapses the whole tree below the selected folder (i.e. all subfolders and commands will no longer be visible).
- Pressing the "+" or "-" key of the numerical keyboard toggles between the expanded and collapsed tree representation.

Emphasising commands available in the command tree The commands available are emphasised by clicking or by selecting the relevant menu item in the **Extras** menu. All commands not available in the meter are then marked in color (grey in the example below). The identification color can be set under **Options...** in the **Extras** menu (see chapter 7.5.3 "Setting Color for Inactive Commands").



All commands are displayed again normally by clicking \checkmark again or by selecting the relevant menu item again in the **Extras** menu.

If there is no connection to a meter, all commands are shown unavailable for local connections when this function is selected. The commands can be selected, however, e.g. read out a value. The commands not available are then correctly displayed corresponding to the meter connected.

Command execution A command can be executed in various ways:

- double-clicking on the command or
- marking the command by clicking and then clicking on the "Execute" button above the command tree or
- clicking with the right mouse button on the command and then selecting the "Execute..." entry in the pop-up menu appearing.

5.9 Display Window

Readout results (meter values, profiles, etc.) are shown in tabular form or as graphic evaluation (e.g. DIP table) in the display window. The following example shows current meter values.

		CBS	Value	$(\mathbf{J}_{i,i})$	Durignatur	à vup 🔺
	F	0.1.70	881		the object	weight second rules
144		001.00	2 09.2005 05 15, 3 (00)		Ekok.	- Vet Digelete 📃
		11-11-11			and end the street	deni nosi ni furmiyen.
		004200			ang an Elevice flam.	dest feat of Number?
		14.027.0	181	¥.	Volene 11	www.leichilic.com
		1 5270	:00	÷.	Wells L2	invalid of Corp.
		17.7270	41	v.	Walene 10	www.leichilic.com
		0007.0			Power to a counter	installation Consul
		00.1.72	•		former in the complex. The	www.leichilic.com
		0007.2	1:		Power to a conception 2	invalid of Corp.
		0.17	1		Were in the coming	www.leichilic.com
		00060	888. 174 Shima		Estany are interaction	Vet Digitals
		0-12			Report of the inglestion congenity changes	weight second rules
		1 1.51	0,0000 (0, 01, 650,00,00,00)		Vasing r Demand (A), ato 1	Dates
		1/1 2	10001 10 · 10 · 10 · 101	<	vise of the Cemand Act, rais 2	18 Y 8 17
		1 1.5 3	0 0000 (0 01, 550 00,00 00)		Vasing r Demand (A), at (3)	Daras 💌 💌
	4					

The data can either be displayed by readout from a meter with the corresponding command or by opening a previously saved file.

The column widths of tables can be changed with the mouse (click edge of column and move while holding down the mouse key).

Clicking on **I** or with the right mouse key in the display window and then selecting the **Save as...** menu item in the pop-up menu appearing opens the "Save as" dialogue window to save the data displayed in a freely selected directory either as XML file (default) or as text file.

Clicking on solution of clicking with the right mouse key in the display window and then selecting the **Open with Excel** menu item in the pop-up menu appearing exports the data displayed for any desired further processing in the Excel table calculation program.

Provided no data are yet shown in the display window, e.g. after starting the Landis+Gyr MAP110 Service Tool, the following background picture can be seen in the display window and the two buttons are not displayed.



5.10 Trace Window

In the trace window all activities are logged.



This includes connection messages (blue), command execution messages (black) and error messages (red).

For the command execution messages the result is displayed immediately afterwards, if it is not displayed as a table in the display area (e.g. readout of current values) or as evaluation in its own window (e.g. vector diagram).

Clicking on $\underbrace{\textcircled{}}$ or clicking with the right mouse button in the trace window followed by selection of the **Clear** menu item in the pop-up menu appearing deletes the contents of the trace window.

Clicking on **I** or clicking with the right mouse button in the trace window followed by selection of the **Save as...** menu item in the pop-up menu appearing opens the "Save as" dialogue window to save the protocol displayed in a freely selected directory either as RTF file (default) or as text file.

Clicking on \square or clicking with the right mouse button in the trace window followed by selection of the **Copy** menu item in the pop-up menu appearing copies the contents of the trace window to the Windows clipboard, from where it can be inserted in another application (e.g. in a word processing program).

The contents of the trace window can be processed as required, e.g. by inserting comments, deletion of individual points, marking of points and copying these with [Ctrl]+[C] to the Windows clipboard, etc.

By clicking on in the symbol bar or by selecting the **Open...** entry in the **File** menu protocols previously saved can be displayed again in the trace window.

5.11 Status Bar

LCZ77700100	E21	D.M400710Cmdo.2407.IT00

The following meter data are displayed in the status bar as soon as connection is made to the meter, i.e. as soon as the modem connection has been made or at least one command has been executed via local connection:

- Logical device name (left)
- Software identification (centre)
- Device configuration (hard and software) (right)

5.12 Evaluation Window

Diagnostic commands such as "GSM Installation Support" or "Vector Diagram" are displayed in separate evaluation windows.



6 Communication with Meters

This chapter describes all aspects of communication with meters, in particular the communication settings in the Landis+Gyr MAP110 Service Tool for various applications.

6.1 Interface to Meter

The communication connection from the Landis+Gyr MAP110 Service Tool to one or more meters can be made in various ways:

- With an optical **reading head** placed at the optical interface of the meter (only point-to-point connection to a meter possible).
- With a **direct connection** to a meter, e.g. via an RS232 or Ethernet interface as used in various communication units. If the communication unit has a second interface, multiple connections are possible to further meters.
- With a **modem connection** to a meter or several meters, if these are connected together by a multiple connection by RS485, CS or M-bus. Note: the modem must first have been installed and configured on the PC.
- With a **TCP/IP connection** over the Internet via iMEGA server to a meter or several meters, if these are connected together by a multiple connection by RS485, CS or M-bus. Note: For TCP/IP connections over the Internet via iMEGA server a virtual COM port and a corresponding standard modem driver must have been installed.

The connection to a PC with the MAP110 software is made either via a serial interface (e.g. COM-port or USB) or via a modem connected.

6.2 Communication Settings

The communication settings in the Landis+Gyr MAP110 Service Tool comprise the following points:

- Selection of a communication profile with connection specifications such as:
 - interface used
 - type of interface
 - transmission rate
 - start protocol
 - network delay times
- Selection of access levels for read and write access
- Specification of passwords for the various access levels

Connection profiles must also be specified for modem and multiple connections. These contain the telephone dialing numbers for modem connections and the physical device addresses for multiple connections.

For a better understanding of the possible settings in the Landis+Gyr MAP110 Service Tool some important terms and communication parameters are explained below, before the completion of various communication connections is shown by means of examples in chapter 6.3 "Communication Examples".

6.2.1 Communication Profiles

A communication profile must be determined or selected in the MAP110 Service Tool for every communication connection to a meter. With the choice of a stored communication profile all settings no longer have to be made separately each time. Any desired number of communication profiles can be specified and stored.

- **Preparation example** The following basic procedure should be adopted to produce and store a new communication profile (specific examples are given in chapter 6.3 "Communication Examples"):
 - 1. Click on in the tool bar or select **Communication Settings...** from the **Extras** menu.

The "MAP110 - Communication Settings" window appears.

elault)		Edit.
ccess Level Base Meter		
dm: read	[0] Public Access	-
din: wite	[2] Usility Field Service	
ccess Level Communica	lion Unit	
dins read	[0] Public Access	-
dins wite	[2] Unity Field Service	-
EC62056-21 (IEC1107+)		
IEC read / write	[2] Uhity Field Service	
	Use security switches at the device to switch from Level 3 or Level 4	Level 0 to

- 2. Click on **Edit...**.
 - The "MAP110 Communication Profiles" window appears.

Communication Profile Name			
(Default)			
This profile is also used if a m	odem profile is selected but no pho	ne number i	s dialed.
Communication Profile Setting	20		
Interlace	COM1		Advanced .
Interface Type	Optical Head	*	Metwork Delays
Baud rate	300 Baud		
Start Protocol	according interface type	٠	

100

- 3. Click on **New**. The window is ready for determining a new communication profile.
- 4. Enter a name for the new communication profile in the entry box "Communication Profile Name".
- 5. Select the serial interface to be used in the "Interface" selection box or the modem used for remote communication and for Ethernet connections the entry "Ethernet".
- 6. Select the "Optical Head", "3-wire connection without echo" or "Bluetooth Optical head" type used in the "Interface Type" selection box for local communication, depending on how the meter is connected. The selection box is inactive for modem and Ethernet connections. This is necessary because an echo signal is often produced when using an optical reading head, which can be suppressed by suitable means in the MAP110, while this effect does not occur with a direct connection.
- 7. Select the transmission rate corresponding to the meter in the "Baud Rate" selection box for local communication. The selection box is inactive for modem connections.
- 8. Select the necessary start protocol for the planned activity in the "Start Protocol" selection box. Possible settings:
 - **according interface type** (default), i.e. IEC protocol, if an optical reader is used or HDLC protocol if a direct connection is used
 - **IEC**, if the IEC protocol must be used without fail
 - HDLC, if the HDLC protocol must be used without fail
- 9. If the network delay time set to 1500 ms as standard is to be changed, activate the "Network Delays" check box. The required delay times must then be entered as advanced communication settings.
- 10. If advanced communication settings are necessary, click on **Advanced...** The "MAP110 Advanced Settings" window appears.

In Logical Device Address avimum Baud Rate 9600 Baud (for IEC communication only) nore Baud Rate Switching (for IEC communication only) Network Delays (e.g. GSM/GPRS, Ethernet) Initial Delay 4000 ms IEC and HDLC Timeout 4000 ms (IEC Standard value 1500 ms Communication delays and timeouts defined in standards may be defined too short for some phone retworks (Schwerks) The communication may abort due to additional delays in the	a Han For at Islandary	-	
IEC and HDLC Timeout Communication delays and timeouts defined in standards may be defined too short for some phone note phone Communication delays and timeouts defined in standards may be defined too short for some phone note phone to an intervents (expended) The communication may about due to additional delays in the	to Handling or Interface	automatically, accord	ding to intestace type
aximum Baud Rate 9600 Baud (for IEC communication only) nore Baud Rate Switching (for IEC communication only) Vetwork Delays (e.g. GSM/GPRS, Ethernet) Initial Delay (4000 ms IEC and HDLC Timeout 4000 ms (IEC Standard value 1500 ms Communication delays and timeouts defined in standards may be defined too short for some phone retworks (6200 ms) The communication may about due to additional delays in the	n Logical Device Address		
nore Baud Rate Switching [for IEC communication only] Vetwork Delays (e.g. GSM/GPRS, Ethernet) Initial Delay [4000 ms IEC and HDLC Timeout [4000 ms (IEC Standard value 1500 ms Communication delays and timeouts defined in standards may be defined too short for some phone retworks (especially GSM retworks). The communication may about due to additional delays in the	ximum Baud Rate	9600 Baud	(for IEC communication only)
Network Delays (e.g. GSM/GPRS, Ethernet) Initial Delay 4000 ms IEC and HDLC Timeout 4000 ms (IEC Standard value 1500 ms Communication delays and timeouts defined in standards may be defined too short for some phone retworks (especially GSM retworks). The communication may about due to additional delays in the	ore Baud Rate Switching	F (for IEC commun	cation only]
Initial Delay 4000 ms IEC and HDLC Timeout 4000 ms (IEC Standard value 1500 ms Communication delays and timeouts defined in standards may be defined too short for some phone retworks (especially GSM retworks). The communication may about due to additional delays in the	etwork Delays (e.g. GSM/GPR	S, Ethernet)	
IEC and HDLC Timeout 4000 ms (IEC Standard value 1500 ms Communication delays and timeouts defined in standards may be defined too short for some phone retworks (expected) ISM retworks). The communication may about due to additional delays in the	Initial Delay	4000	ms
Communication delays and timeouts defined in standards may be defined too short for some phone networks (expended GSM networks). The communication may about due to additional delays in the	IEC and HDLC Timeout	4000	mt (IEC Standard value 1500 mt)
network. Therefore, it is highly suggested to increase timeout and delay for GSM network connection	Communication delays and tim networks (especially GSM net network. Therefore, it is highly	eouts defined in standards works). The communication suggested to increse times	may be defined too short for some phone may abort due to additional delays in the ut and delay for GSM network connections.

11. Perform the required advanced communication settings.

Possible settings in the "Echo Handling of Interface" selection box:

- **automatically, according to interface type** (default), i.e. with echo, if an optical reading head is used or without echo, if a direct connection is made
- with echo (e.g. optical head), if a direct connection is used, which causes an echo
- without echo (e.g. electrical interface), if an optical reader is used, which causes no echo

This address can be entered in the "Own Logical Device Address" entry box, if it must be notified to the opposite station, e.g. for identification purposes.

The maximum transmission rate can be selected in the "Maximum Baud Rate" selection box for the IEC protocol (default = 9600).

If the check box "Ignore Baud Rate Switching" is activated with IEC protocol selected, the starting baud rate selected is permanently retained. This is necessary, for example, for communication with meters, which must be contacted via a multiple connection with a lower transmission rate than required by the modem circuit.

The initial delay and timeout time for problems in making connection, e.g. with GSM networks, can be set in the "Initial Delay" and "IEC and HDLC Timeout" entry boxes. Note that the "Network Delays" check box in the "Communication Profiles" window must also be activated for this setting to be effective (otherwise the standard values of 1500 ms remain effective).

12. Click on **OK**.

The "MAP110 - Advanced Settings" window disappears again.

contraction riture marte	1. FR001.		
ans direct connection without	echo - 57600 bps		
Communication Profile Setting	21		
Intellace	COM1	•	Advanced .
Interface Type	3-wire connection without echo	*	Network Delays
Baud rate	57600 Baud		
Start Protocol	HDLC	•	

13. Click on **OK**.

The new communication profile is stored and then appears as entry in the "Communication Profile" selection box in the "MAP110 - Communication Settings" window.

6.2.2 Access Levels

The access levels to a meter should be selected in the "Communication Settings" window for each communication setting (one each for read and write via dlms for the base meter and for the communication unit and one each for read and write via IEC).

Ine direct connection with	nout echo - 57600 bps 📃 Ed	t.,
Access Level Base Mete		
dina read	[0] Public Access	*
dim: write	[2] Utility Field Service	*
Access Level Communic	ation Unit	
dims read	[0] Public Access	*
dim: write	[2] Utility Field Service	*
IEC62056-21 (IEC1107+)		
IEC read / write	[0] Public Access	-
	Use security switches at the device to switch from Level Level 3 or Level 4	0 to

The various access levels and their fields of application are described in chapter 10 "Short Description of Meter Security System".

Any passwords necessary can be changed in the "MAP110 - Passwords" window, which appears after clicking **Passwords...**.

The following default passwords are defined (not displayed):

- **00000000** as static password for access level 1
- 1234567 as coded password for access level 2

Note

Changing default passwords

Landis+Gyr recommends that the generally known default passwords in the meter should be changed.

110 - Fasswords			
ccess Levels for IEC and dir	WS	200002	2.000 C
	UID	Password	Comment
[0] Public access	16		
[1] Datacollection	32		static
[2] Utility Field Service	48		coded
(3) Utility Service	64		Service Menu required
[4] Extended Utility Service	80		Hardware Switch required
ccess Level for dins only			
[5] Extended Consumer	17		static
[6] Remote DataCollection	18	-	static
[7] Remote Service	19		static
coess Level for Security Sy	otem Mo	dilication (dins only)	
[C] Read Administrator	96		coded
[D] Utility Administrator	97		coded - Hardware Switch required
[E] Distributor Service	100		coded - Hardware Switch required
ser Defined Access Level			
MUser Defined	64	<u></u>	no password
C W5 commands			
W5 / R5 commands			static

6.2.3 Addressing Meters

For point-to-point connections the meter need not be specially addressed. But with multi-drop all meters connected to the bus system (RS485, CS or M-Bus) must have their own address for individual access. This address is called the **physical device address**. In fact even two physical device addresses are used, one for the IEC protocol (IEC device address) and the other for the DLMS protocol (HDLC device address).

Unless otherwise specified on the order, the following parameter values are set as defaults for these physical device addresses:

- Physical IEC device address = serial number (printed on face plate of meter), e.g. 73852799.
- Physical **HDLC** device address = last 4 digits of serial number plus 1000 (because with dlms the range of addresses is limited and some addresses are reserved), e.g. 3799 for a serial number 73852799 (2799 + 1000 = 3799).

The physical device addresses are stored as parameters of the basic meter and not in the communication unit. A change of communication unit does not therefore affect the addressing. These parameters can be found under "Identification numbers". With the Landis+Gyr MAP110 Service Tool the physical device addresses of the meters can be modified with the write commands under "Communication Settings".

6.3 Communication Examples

This chapter provides some examples to show how communication connections are made to meters via various communication paths and for various applications. It is assumed in all examples that the physical connections (e.g. cable or modem connections) have already been made and the Landis+Gyr MAP110 Service Tool has already been started.

6.3.1 Local Point-to-Point Connection via Optical Reading Head

An example of a point-to-point connection to a single meter via an optical reading head is given in chapter 4 "First Steps".

6.3.2 Local Point-to-Point Connection via RS232 Interface

This example shows how a point-to-point connection is made to a single meter.



Procedure:

- Click on P in the tool bar or select Communication Settings... from the Extras menu. The "MAP110 - Communication Settings" window appears showing the settings last used.
- 2. Select or create a communication profile with the following settings (for procedure see chapter 6.2.1 "Communication Profiles"):
 - Selection box "Interface": serial interface, to which the connection cable to the RS232 interface of the meter is connected, e.g. COM1.
 - Selection box "Interface Type": 3-wire connection without echo.
 - Selection box "Baud Rate": Transmission rate according to the parameter settings of the communication unit in the meter, e.g. 9600.
 - Selection box "Start Protocol": According interface type.

ommunication Profile Name			
COM1 direct connection - 96	00 bps		
Communication Profile Cette			
	·		
Interlace	COM1		Advanced.
Interface Type	3-wire connection without echo	*	T Network Delays
Baud rate	9600 Baud		
Start Protocol	according interface type	٠	

3. Select the required access levels for the intended activity in the relevant selection boxes of the "MAP110 - Communication Settings" window.

COM1 direct connection	9600 bps 📃	Edt.
Access Level Base Mete		
dina read	[0] Public Access	<u>*</u>
dins write	[2] Utility Field Service	•
Access Level Communic	ation Unit	
dins read	[1] Data Collection	-
dins write	[2] Utility Field Service	<u>.</u>
IEC62056-21 (IEC1107+	1	
IEC read / write	[1] Data Collection	
	Use security switches at the device to switch from L Level 3 or Level 4	evel 0 to

4. Click on **OK**.

The communication settings are applied and the "MAP110 - Communication Settings" window disappears again.

- 5. Select the meter type "dlms meters" or "IEC meters" in the "Select Meter Type" selection box corresponding to the characteristics of the meter connected.
- 6. Select the required command in the command tree. Communication is started and the command executed.
6.3.3 Local Multiple Connections via RS232/RS485 Interfaces

This example shows how a multiple connection is made to several meters mutually connected via RS485 interfaces. dlms is used as communication protocol. In the layout diagram below the meter numbers are given for addressing.



Procedure:

1. Click on 22 in the tool bar or select **Communication Settings...** from the **Extras** menu.

The "MAP110 - Communication Settings" window appears showing the settings last used.

- 2. Select or create a communication profile with the following settings (for procedure see chapter 6.2.1 "Communication Profiles"):
 - Selection box "Interface": serial interface, to which the connection cable to the RS232 interface of the first meter (in this example no. 76048477) is connected, e.g. COM1.
 - Selection box "Interface Type": 3-wire connection without echo.
 - Selection box "Baud Rate": Transmission rate according to the parameter setting of the communication unit in the meter, e.g. 57600.
 - Selection box "Start Protocol": According to interface type or HDLC, since access is to take place via the dlms protocol.

dins direct connection without	echo - 57600 bps		
Communication Profile Setting	21		
Interlace	C0M1	Advanced	
Interface Type	3-wire connection without echo	Network D	elays
Baud rate	57600 Baud		
Start Protocol	according interface type	*	

3. Select the required access levels for the intended activity in the relevant selection boxes of the "MAP110 - Communication Settings" window, e.g. [1] Data Collection for read commands and [2] Utility Field Service for write commands.

the direct connection wit	hout echo - 57600 bps 💌 🔳	dit.
Access Level Base Mete		
dim: read	[1] Data Collection	*
dins write	[2] Usilty Field Service	
Access Level Communic	ation Unit	
dins read	[1] Data Collection	
dina write	[2] Utility Field Service	*
IEC62056-21 (IEC1107+	1	
IEC read / write	[0] Public Access	
	Use security switches at the device to switch from Leve Level 3 or Level 4	el O to

- 4. In the "MAP110 Communication Settings" window click on **OK**. The communication settings are applied and the "Communication Settings" window disappears again.
- 5. Select the meter type "dlms meters" in the "Select Meter Type" selection box.
- 6. Activate the check box in the "Physical Address" area. Since a multiple connection is to be made, it must be possible to specify the device address of the desired meter.
- 7. If the physical address of the desired meter for multiple connection is already recorded, continuation can be made directly from point 13.
- 8. Click in the "Physical Address" area on 🗾 to enter the device address of the meter. The "MAP110 - Add Physical Address" window appears.
- 9. Enter the HDLC device address of the desired meter in the "Physical dlms Device Address" entry box, since the dlms protocol is to be used. This is calculated from the last 4 digits of the serial number plus 1000, e.g. 9477 for the meter with the serial number 76048477 (see also chapter 6.2.3 "Addressing Meters").
- 10. Enter a clear designation of the meter in the "Description" entry box.

Phone N	r, [local]
Physical IEC Device Addres	8
Physical dins Device Addres	9477

11. Click on **OK**.

The device address added is displayed in the "Physical Address" selection box.

- 12. The remaining device addresses for multiple connection should be entered in the same way (points 8 to 11).
- 13. Select the entry with the device address of the desired meter in the "Physical Address" selection box.

×	vica Adoress		
	9477 (Heta 70/ 0477)		💌 (FT 1 1 (
	Ø	6	î

- 14. Select the required command in the command tree. The command is executed.
- 15. If it is desired to communicate with another meter in the multiple connection, select its address while connection continues in the "Physical Address" selection box and then select the desired command in the command tree (the multiple connection must not be interrupted and re-connected for the changeover).

6.3.4 Remote Point-to-Point Connection via V34b PSTN Modem

This example shows how a point-to-point connection is made for remote communication with a single meter fitted with a CU-M1/V34b communication unit via a V34b PSTN modem. dlms is used as communication protocol.



Procedure:

1. Click on 2 in the tool bar or select **Communication Settings...** from the **Extras** menu.

```
The "MAP110 - Communication Settings" window appears showing the settings last used.
```

- 2. Select or create a communication profile with the following settings (for procedure see chapter 6.2.1 "Communication Profiles"):
 - Selection box "Interface": any available V34b PSTN modem.
 - Selection box "Start Protocol": HDLC, since access is to be made via the dlms protocol.

ommunication Profile Name		
odem V34 dims		
Communication Profile Setting	21	
Interlace	U.S. Robotice 56K FAX EXT	Advanced.
Start Protocol	HDLC	Network Delays

3. Select the required access levels for the intended activity in the relevant selection boxes of the "MAP110 - Communication Settings" window, e.g. [6] Remote Data Collection for read commands and [7] Remote Service for write commands. If the access level to be used is not known, refer to chapter 10.4 "Access Levels and their Application".

Hoden V34 dims		Edit.
Access Level Base Meter		
dim: read	[6] Remote Data Collection	
din: write	[7] Remote Servicer	
Access Level Communica	ilion Unit	
dims read	[1] Data Collection	
dina write	[2] Utility Field Service	
IEC62056-21 (IEC1107+)		
IEC read / write	[0] Public Access	
	Use security switches at the device to switch ho Level 3 or Level 4	m Level 0 to

4. Click on **Passwords...**. The "MAP110 - Passwords" window appears.

UID 16	Password	Comment
16	Paroword	Comment
16		
32		static
48		coded
64		Service Menu required
80		Hardware Switch required
17		static
18		static
19		static
ystem Mod	filication (dins only)	
96		coded
97		coded - Hardware Switch required
100		coded - Hardware Switch required
64		no pataword
		static
	48 64 80 17 18 19 96 97 100 64	48 54 80 17 17 18 ******* 19 ******* potens Modification (diris only) 96 97 100 64

- 6. In the "MAP110 Passwords" window click on **OK**. The passwords entered are stored and the "MAP110 - Passwords" window disappears again.
- 7. In the "MAP110 Communication Settings" window click on **OK**. The communication settings are applied and the "Communication Settings" window disappears again.
- 8. Select the meter type "dlms meters" in the "Select Meter Type" selection box.
- 9. If the call number of the meter modem is already entered, continue directly from point 13.
- Click on in the "Modem Connection" area to enter the call number of the meter modem. The "MAP110 - Add Modem Connection" window appears.
- 11. Enter the telephone number of the modem to be called in the "Modem Connection" entry box and in the "Description" entry box for example a clear designation of the meter location.

	Use comma to wait for dial tone e.g. 0.0123456
Description	ZMD410 B14 No. 74700046

- 12. Click on **OK**.
 - The call number added is displayed in the "Modem Connection" selection box.
- 13. Select the entry with the call number of the meter modem in the "Modem Connection" selection box.

If the call number has just been entered, it is already selected.

- Modern Convertion -			
😹 мозану	(MCHOF	< No	7/ 💌
n di asala da	Ø		3

14. Click on in the "Modem Connection" area to make connection to the modem.

The "MAP110 - Dialing..." window is displayed while making the connection.



When the connection is made, it is indicated in the log area and the command tree is released.

The Total 1			al a si
Todat Water Type	Hadan Caranatian	Receivation	et interest
Fred Connects Units Connects Connects Connects Connects Connects Connects Connects Connects	Reference to one of the first sector of the fi	RAVIES FOR	
12 E	1		3

- 15. Select the required command in the command tree. The command is executed.
- 16. Click on in the "Modem Connection" area to conclude the modem connection.

6.3.5 Remote Multiple Connection via V22b PSTN Modem

This example shows how a multiple connection is made for remote reading of several interconnected meters via a V22b PSTN modem. IEC is used as communication protocol. In the layout diagram below the meter numbers are given for addressing.



Procedure:

1. Click on 22 in the tool bar or select **Communication Settings...** from the **Extras** menu.

The "MAP110 - Communication Settings" window appears showing the settings last used.

- 2. Select or create a communication profile with the following settings (for procedure see chapter 6.2.1 "Communication Profiles"):
 - Selection box "Interface": any available V22b PSTN Modem.
 - Selection box "Start Protocol": IEC, since access is to take place via the IEC protocol.

ommunication Profile Name		
odem V22 IEC		
Communication Dealle Catting		
contraction in some period	P	
Intellace	U.S. Robotica 56K FAX EXT	 Advanced.
Start Protocol	IEC	Network Dela

3. Click on **Advanced...**.

The "MAP110 - Advanced Settings" window appears.

ho Handling of Interface	automatically, accord	ding to interface type 📃
in Logical Device Address		
skimum Baud Rate	2400 Baud	(for IEC communication only)
nore Baud Rate Switching	🔽 (for IEC communi	cation only]
Vetwork Delays (e.g. GSM/GPR	S. Ethernet)	
Initial Delay	4000	ma
IEC and HDLC Timeout	4000	mt (IEC Standard value 1500 mt)
Communication delays and tim networks (especially GSM net network. Therefore, it is highly	eouts defined in standards works). The communication suggested to increse timeo	may be defined too short for some phone may abort due to additional delays in the ut and delay for GSM network connections.

- 4. Select the item "2400 Baud" in the "Maximum Baud Rate" box. This is necessary because a V22bis modem is used on the meter side and the multiple connection is also set to 2400 bps.
- 5. Activate the check box "Ignore Baud Rate Switching".
- Click on **OK** in the "MAP110 Advanced Settings" window and in the "Communication Profiles" window. The windows disappear again.
- 7. Select the required access level for the planned action, e.g. [1] Data Collection in the "IEC62056-21" selection box of the "MAP110 Communication Settings" window.

Moden V22 IEC	<u>*</u>	Edit.
Access Level Base Meter		
dina read	[1] Data Collection	*
dins write	[3] Utility Service	*
Access Level Communica	tion Unit	
dins read	[1] Data Collection	×
dim: write	[2] Utility Field Service	*
IEC62056-21 (IEC1107+)		
IEC read / write	[1] Data Collection	
	Use security switches at the device to swit Level 3 or Level 4	ch from Level 0 to

8. In the "MAP110 - Communication Settings" window click on **OK**. The communication settings are applied and the "MAP110 - Communication Settings" window disappears again.

- 9. Select the meter type "IEC meters" in the "Select Meter Type" selection box.
- 10. If the call number of the meter modem is already entered, continue directly from point 14.
- Click on in the "Modem Connection" area to enter the call number of the meter modem. The "MAP110 - Add Modem Connection" window appears.
- 12. Enter the telephone number of the modem to be called in the "Modem Connection" entry box and in the "Description" entry box for example a clear designation of the meter location.

MAP110 - Add Moden	Connection	×
Modern Connection	0419356124	
	Use comma to wait for dial tone e.g. 0.01234567	
Description	ZMD405 Multi Test Room	
	OK Crewit	i
	<u><u> </u></u>	1

13. Click on **OK**.

The call number added is displayed in the "Modem Connection" selection box.

14. Select the entry with the call number of the meter modem in the "Modem Connection" selection box.

If the call number has just been entered, it is already selected.



- 15. Activate the check box in the "Physical Address" area. Since a multiple connection is to be made, it must be possible to specify the device address of the desired meter.
- 16. If the physical address of the desired meter for multiple connection is already recorded, continuation can be made directly from point 21.
- 17. Click in the "Physical Address" area on it to enter the device address of the meter.

The "MAP110 - Physical Address" window appears.

- 18. Enter the IEC device address of the desired meter in the "Physical IEC Device Address" entry box. This corresponds to the meter serial number (see also chapter 6.2.3 "Addressing Meters"). The dlms device address is calculated automatically and displayed in the "Physical dlms Device Address" entry box.
- 19. Enter a clear designation of the meter in the "Description" entry box.

Phone Nr.	0419356124 [2MD405 Multi Test Room
Physical IEC Device Address	74700056
Physical dins Device Address	1056
e physical dims device address is der red on the rule "Last four digits + 100	ved from the physical IEC device address 0" as delivered by the factory, by default

20. Click on **OK**.

The device address added is displayed in the "Physical Address" selection box. It is assigned to the selected modem connection.

- 21. The remaining device addresses for multiple connection should be entered in the same way (points 17 to 20).
- 22. Select the entry with the device address of the desired meter in the "Physical Address" selection box.



23. Click on in the "Modem Connection" area to make connection to the modem.

The "MAP110 - Dialing..." window is displayed while making the connection.



When the connection is made, it is indicated in the log area and the command tree is released.



- 24. Select the required command in the command tree. The command is executed.
- 25. If it is desired to communicate with another meter in the multiple connection, select its address while connection continues in the "Physical Address" selection box and then select the desired command in the command tree (the multiple connection must not be interrupted and re-connected for the changeover).
- 26. Click on 🔯 in the "Modem Connection" area to conclude the modem connection.

6.3.6 Remote Point-to-Point Connection via GSM Modem

This example shows how a modem point-to-point connection is made to a meter with GSM modem (CU-G2 communication unit) in order, for example, to check the existing field strength at the meter.



Procedure:

- Click on P in the tool bar or select Communication Settings... from the Extras menu. The "MAP110 - Communication Settings" window appears showing the settings last used.
- 2. Select or create a communication profile with the following settings (for procedure see chapter 6.2.1 "Communication Profiles"):
 - Selection box "Interface": any available modem.

- Selection box "Start Protocol": according interface type or HDLC. Diagnostic commands are not available with the "IEC" setting.
- Check box "Network Delays" activated.
 This increases the time delays with respect to the standard value of 1500 ms to the value set under "Advanced Communication Settings" (default value = 4000 ms). Increasing the time delays prevents the occurrence of interruptions during data transmission and is urgently recommended for GSM networks.

odem		
Communication Profile Settings	i	
Interlace [U.S. Robotics 56K FAX EXT	Advanced .
Start Protocol	according interface type	Network Delays

3. Select the required access levels for the intended activity in the relevant selection boxes of the "MAP110 - Communication Settings" window, e.g. [0] Public Access.

Modem	× .	Edt.
Access Level Base Mete		
dina read	[1] Data Collection	
dins write	[2] Utility Field Service	
Access Level Communic	ation Unit	
dins read	[1] Data Collection	
dins wite	[2] Utility Field Service	
IEC62056-21 (IEC1107+	l	
IEC read / write	(0) Public Access	
	Use security switches at the device to switch to Level 3 or Level 4	om Level 0 to

4. Select the meter type "dlms meters" in the "Select Meter Type" selection box.

Diagnostic commands are not available with the meter type setting "IEC meters".

- 5. If the call number of the meter modem is already entered, continue directly from point 9.
- 6. Click on in the "Modem Connection" area to enter the call number of the meter modem.

The "MAP110 - Add Modem Connection" window appears.

7. Enter the telephone number of the modem to be called in the "Modem Connection" entry box and in the "Description" entry box for example a clear designation of the meter location.

Modern Connection	0795713277
	Use comma to wait for dial tone e.g. 0,01234567
Description	Gurtnellen Solar

8. Click on **OK**.

The call number added is displayed in the "Modem Connection" selection box.

9. Select the entry with the call number of the meter modem in the "Modem Connection" selection box.

If the call number has just been entered, it is already selected.



10. Click on 🖆 in the "Modem Connection" area to make connection to the modem.

The "MAP110 - Dialing..." window is displayed while making the connection.



When the connection is made, it is indicated in the log area and the command tree is released.



11. Select the "GSM Installation Support" command in the command tree under "Diagnostic".

The field strength at the location of the meter is measured for the cell logged in and for the neighbouring cells available and displayed as bar and value.

275000395-2 - 042	
	Pwriss 6/6H (22801)
	9wrs5 6/5M (22801)
	9WISS 65M (22001)
	SMISS GEM (22801)

The field strength measurement is not continuously updated with a remote connection via GSM channel, but the values immediately after making the connection are displayed.

12. Click on **Stop**.

Measurement is stopped, but can be repeated by clicking **Restart**.

13. Click on in the "Modem Connection" area to conclude the modem connection.

6.3.7 Local Point-to-Point Connection via Ethernet

This example shows how a point-to-point connection is made via a local network to a single meter equipped with a communication unit CU-E2x.



Procedure:

- Click on A in the tool bar or select Communication Settings... from the Extras menu The "MAP110 - Communication Settings" window appears showing the settings last used.
- 2. Select or create a communication profile with the following settings (for procedure see chapter 6.2.1 "Communication Profiles"):
 - Selection box "Interface": Ethernet
 - Selection box "Start Protocol": According interface type.
 - Check box "Network Delays" activated. This setting occurs automatically if Ethernet is selected as interface. This increases the time delays with respect to the standard value of 1500 ms to the value set under "Advanced Communication Settings" (default value = 4000 ms). Increasing the time delays prevents the occurrence of interruptions during data transmission.

Communication Profile Name			
Ethernet			
Communication Profile Setting	21		
Interlace	Ethernet		Advanced .
Start Protocol	according interface type	•	😰 Network Dielays
201 (1711)		10-3	

3. Click on Advanced....

The "MAP110 - Advanced Settings" window appears.

cho Handling of Interlace	automatically, accord	ding to interface type 📃
wn Logical Device Address		
avimum Blaud Rate	9600 Baud	(for IEC communication only)
nore Baud Rate Switching	F (for IEC communi	cation only)
Network Delays (e.g. GSM/GPR	S, Ethernet)	
Initial Delay	500	ma
IEC and HDLC Timeout	10000	ms (IEC Standard value 1500 ms)
Communication delays and tim networks (especially GSM net network. Therefore, it is highly	eouts defined in standards works). The communication suggested to increse timeo	may be defined too short for some phone may abort due to additional delays in the ut and delay for GSM network connections.

- 4. Enter an "Initial Delay" of 500 ms and an "IEC and HDLC Timeout" of 10000 ms.
- Click on **OK** in the "MAP110 Advanced Settings" window and in the "Communication Profiles" window. The windows disappear again.
- 6. Select the required access levels for the intended activity in the relevant selection boxes of the "MAP110 Communication Settings" window.

Ethernet		Edit.
Access Level Base Meter		
dins read	[0] Public Access	*
dins write	[2] Usility Field Service	•
Access Level Communica	alion Unit	
dims read	[1] Data Collection	*
dina write	[2] Unity Field Service	•
IEC62056-21 (IEC1107+)		
IEC read / write	(0) Public Access	
	Use security switches at the device to switch from Le Level 3 or Level 4	wel 0 to

7. Click on **OK**.

The communication settings are applied and the "MAP110 - Communication Settings" window disappears again.

8. If the IP address and port number of the meter is already recorded, continuation can be made directly from point 12.

- 9. Click in the "IP Address" area on 🔟 to enter the IP address and port number of the meter.
 - The "MAP110 Add IP Address" window appears.
- 10. Enter the IP address and the port number of the desired meter in the corresponding entry boxes and for example a clear designation of the meter location in the "Description" entry box .

APTTO - AGO IP AGO		
IP Address	192 168 1 31	
Port	1000	
Description	Distribution West	
	OK	Cancel

11. Click on **OK**.

The IP address and port number added are displayed in the "IP Address" selection box.

12. Select the entry with the IP address and port number of the meter in the "IP Address" selection box.

If the IP address and port number have just been entered, it is already selected.

P Antros
182 158 1 81 1000 (S + 11000 24 💌

- 13. Select the meter type "dlms meters" or "IEC meters" in the "Select Meter Type" selection box corresponding to the characteristics of the meter connected.
- 14. Select the required command in the command tree. Communication is started and the command executed.

6.3.8 Remote Point-to-Point Connection via the Internet

This example shows how a point-to-point connection via the Internet is made to a single meter equipped with a communication unit CU-E2x.



Procedure:

- Click on P in the tool bar or select Communication Settings... from the Extras menu The "MAP110 - Communication Settings" window appears showing the settings last used.
- 2. Select or create a communication profile with the following settings (for procedure see chapter 6.2.1 "Communication Profiles"):
 - Selection box "Interface": Modem, which has been defined for the virtual COM port to the iMEGA server
 - Selection box "Start Protocol": According interface type.
 - Check box "Network Delays" activated. This increases the time delays with respect to the standard value of 1500 ms to the value set under "Advanced Communication Settings" (default value = 4000 ms). Increasing the time delays prevents the occurrence of interruptions during data transmission.

AP110 - Communication P	rofiles		
Communication Profile Name			
MEGA			
Communication Profile Setting	p	-	I
Intellace	Standard 56000 bpc Modern	-	Advanced.
Start Protocol	according interface type	٠	Vetwork Delays
\$ >	Delote New	0	K Cancel

3. Click on **Advanced...**.

The "MAP110 - Advanced Settings" window appears.

the Handling of Interlace	automatically, accord	ding to interface type
en Logical Device Address		
aximum Blaud Rate	9600 Baud	(for IEC communication only)
nore Baud Rate Switching	F (for IEC communi	cation only)
Vetwork Delays (e.g. GSM/GPR	S, Ethernet)	
Initial Delay	500	mi
IEC and HDLC Timeout	10000	mt (IEC Standard value 1500 mt)
Communication delays and tim networks (especially GSM net network. Therefore, it is highly	eouts defined in standards works). The communication suggested to increse timeo	may be defined too short for some phone may abort due to additional delays in the ut and delay for GSM network connections.

- 4. Enter an "Initial Delay" of 500 ms and an "IEC and HDLC Timeout" of 10000 ms.
- Click on **OK** in the "MAP110 Advanced Settings" window and in the "Communication Profiles" window. The windows disappear again.
- 6. Select the required access levels for the intended activity in the relevant selection boxes of the "MAP110 Communication Settings" window.

MEGA		Edt.
Access Level Base Meb		
dina read	[0] Public Access	-
dins write	[2] Usility Field Service	
Access Level Communic	ation Unit	
dins read	[0] Public Access	-
dins wite	[2] Utility Field Service	
IEC62056-21 (IEC1107+	1	
IEC read / write	[0] Public Access	-
	Use security switches at the device to switch from L Level 3 or Level 4	evel 0 to

7. Click on **OK**.

The communication settings are applied and the "MAP110 - Communication Settings" window disappears again.

8. If the network ID of the meter is already recorded, continuation can be made directly from point 14.

- 9. Click on 🔟 in the "Modem Connection" area to enter the call number of the meter modem.
 - The "MAP110 Add Modem Connection" window appears.
- 10. Enter the network ID of the meter in the "Modem Connection" entry box and in the "Description" entry box for example a clear designation of the meter location.

Modem Connection	EINSPEISUNG-WEST
	Use comma to wait for dial tone e.g. 0.0123456
Description	Meter No. 76926068
2.227.510	

11. Click on **OK**.

The network ID added is displayed in the "Modem Connection" selection box.

12. Select the entry with the network ID of the meter in the "Modem Connection" selection box (this is treated for the call via the virtual COM port like a telephone number).

If the network ID has just been entered, it is already selected.



- 13. Select the meter type "dlms meters" or "IEC meters" in the "Select Meter Type" selection box corresponding to the characteristics of the meter connected.
- 14. Click on 🖻 in the "Modem Connection" area to make connection to the iMEGA server.

The "MAP110 - Dialing..." window is displayed while making the connection.



When the connection is made, it is indicated in the log area and the command tree is released.



- 15. Select the required command in the command tree. Communication is started and the command executed.
- 16. Click on in the "Modem Connection" area to conclude the connection to iMEGA server.

6.4 Reference to Other Documents

Detailed information about Landis+Gyr Dialog communication solutions can be found in the following documents.

- Data sheets for the various communication units
- User manuals for the various communication units
- Functional description of communication units
- Detailed **application notes** for numerous reference applications with various communication units for different transmission media

All these documents as well as advisory services are available from the competent representative of Landis+Gyr.

7 Application of MAP110 Functions

This chapter contains instructions for the use of functions of the Landis+ Gyr MAP110 Service Tool and for interpretation or further processing of results.

The selection of commands and their execution is described in chapter 5.8 "Command Tree", Command execution" section.

7.1 Read Commands

Chapter 12 "Functional Range per User Group" describes which read commands are available to the individual user groups. The following read commands are explained as examples:

- Simple read commands for parameters and values
- Read commands for current meter data
- Read commands for event logs
- Read commands for load profiles

Other read commands can be used in a similar way.

7.1.1 Simple Read Commands

Simple read commands read out an individual parameter or value from the meter which is displayed in the trace window.

For execution, select the corresponding read command in the command tree marked with the symbol \clubsuit or .



The parameters or values read out each appear in a line in the trace window (command left, result right):

323	L0277708L00 (301) connected	
2	Read Call and Fine	2005 20 21 20:21:27
	Read Tire Isse	mains frequency IO Es
	Pend Identification Conver 1.1	77708190
	Read Electrical ICC revine College	12 COH 19
-	Read Physical (D10 Device Address	9_90

7.1.2 Read Commands for Current Meter Data

For read commands for current meter data a table of values and parameters is read out from the meter and displayed in the display window.

To execute, select the "Current Values Readout" read command (dlms meters) or "IEC Data Readout" (IEC meters) in the command tree.

The table read out is shown in the display window. Each column of the table can be sorted in increasing or decreasing order by clicking on the relevant column heading. The table is sorted alphanumerically and the selected sorting sequence indicated in the column heading with an arrow pointing upwards for increasing or downwards for decreasing sequence.

For readout according to dlms the table contains the OBIS code for every value or parameter (see chapter 11 "OBIS Identification Codes"), the display value, the unit, exact designation and the group.

		CBS	Value	Je.	Durignatur	
	•	0-1-70	101		tros objecti	Here Despector
100		001.00	2 09.2005 0.58.40(00)		Skotk	Humilingan in 📃
		11-11-11			Ad - N Lee the	Ineral terms Number
		004200	.3277728-82		angen Device flage	Las à calor de cars
		1/ 02/20	181	Ŷ	Wallers 11	Inde enco Sonital
		1 5270	2.00		Weight D	Proto Liter Centrel
		14.727.0	-11	¥.	Wallers 10	Inde enco Social
		0007.0			Power to a visionale	Protocial Control
		0007.	11		Power to a second at a	Fixe Lion Cont of
		0-1-7	•-		Were the used counter	Inde enco Sonital
		0007.3	EE4		Power to a concentration 23	Fight Lion Control
		11-1-6	an 1 - Sinn		alway use the counter	Here Despond
		00020	32		the rest of the figuration program or angest	Huan Disgension
		1/11	10001].1U. 101 101	<	was new Demand Routively 1	Cenand
		1 1.52	0,0000 (0, 01, 650,00,00,00)		Vasing a Demand (A), at 2	Excessed
		1-1-1-3	10001].1U. 10F 101	<	viasion on Demand Roll rais (1	Cervand 👻
	•	-				P

With readout according to IEC the table contains the code (identification value) for every value or parameter, the main value and where present an auxiliary value (e.g. date and time for demand values).

		C	Ver Vera	A. diag Value	
	•	I			1
100		C7.	22222819		-
		1.7	15		1
		07.2			
		17	31		1
		0.20	77708-90		
		11 1	222 C 🖬		1
		0.51	0.56.07		
		0.5.2	00 09 21		
		<u>п. п</u>	12		
		0. 0017	22.09 5 39		
		11 . 11 JI!	54881 http://55		
		1.21	222 000 kw		
		1 2	1001 11		
		1.2.3	222 000 kw		
		1 /	1001 W		
		521	000 kwa		-

The table can be saved as XML or text file for further processing or exported directly to the Excel table calculation program (see chapter 5.9 "Display Window").

7.1.3 Read Commands for Event Logs

With read commands for event logs a table of events occurring is read from the meter and shown in the display window.

For execution, select the "Event Log" (dlms meters) or "Event Log R5" (IEC meters) read command in the command tree.

The profile range to be read out can be specified in a dialogue window:

- all (default)
- last x days (with x entered)
- from a specific starting date to a specific final date

Shortening readout time by data selection

Note

It is highly recommended to perform a data selection before readout, since readout of the entire event log can take a considerable time.

Nume man					
C all	10	faun			
Chan	- Constan	11 Sectionsbur 2005	-	From	-
-	Mitwoch	21. September 2005		F 100.00	4

The event log data read out are shown as a table in the display window. With readout under dlms the table contains the date and time, EDIS status word, event number and register statuses for every event. An explanatory text is displayed by placing the mouse pointer on a column heading or a cell. In the case of a coded EDIS status word, this is directly decoded and all individual events are displayed (e.g. the EDIS status word 00880080 contains the individual events 8, 20 and 24).

-		10-10	01-024-05	III (24 12 11	118 - 28m	10.8 (08/9)	1128 [[evab]
	Þ.	2020/02/03 10:22:01	1111/C	ਅ ਨੂੰ ਜ	1000	7 H 1524	874/1027
≍ıl		2010/02/03 03:06 21	TTET ST	25 July 10 Mar	1000	4-14-1224	8744 1237
		ALCO CLAURA (A)	1114	-9/3 1	нų	1411 K 9H 01	8443540 (
		ALCO PERCENTER 24	1418 N	L Mar Cava [<u>~1</u>	1411 K 9H 01	8443540 (
		ALC: CLUBAS A	1114 🙀	-4 1		141] KSM1+	84435-955
		2000/02/03/03/25/16	leis 🧎	even la ser 18 a de sé contra di Frantini		3.9416	8 (43 5565
		2000020303.8.16	LLLA 👸	e tich benda (20) I di terra (al era-	ե ունենք	-41 X8.95	8438345
		200612130826:061	leis –	3 U.	.0.0	121 X 8595	8/43/8545
		200612130826:56	1114	a (,	.0.0	1411.88595	8/43/8545
		20061213083636	1818	5 U.	.0.0	1411.88595	8/43/8545
		20061217/020330	1811	3 L.	.0.0	14041.6421	5656 5452
		30502021334:34	1114	a (.	.0.0	100004077	05740101
		2005-02-02-02:01:41	333330	z c:	000	10000.4077	0574 0101
	4)

With readout according to IEC the table contains the same data for every event as for readout under dlms, although they are shown slightly differently (e.g. preceding zeros).

		The last	Stax's Word		[100](set)]	20.0 [kech]	000[wah]	40.0 [kvat]	<u></u>
	۶.	2004121300:0000	00850070	-8	A.A.U.,A	012955.62	3.43.5	U.C.C.LUJ	
20		10041200100014	0.0.0343	14	A.A.VA	012/4343	A GLOS A	ULLIUJ	
		20044240300:0025	00000000	52	30300.30	012743.40	3000530	00000000	
		200442403/05:20/05	0000020	•1	000000.00	012704.50	000024.04	00000000	- 7
		200442403/05:20 20	00000000	10	000000.00	012704.50	000024.04	00000000	- 191
		20074240300:00.00	00000010	10	000000.00	012301.70	300013.31	00000000	- 20
		20074230114:05.40	00000070	24	000000.00	012501.90	300073,70	00000000	- 101
		2007-1240 10:14:00	00000000	10	000000.00	0.2501.90	30673,70	00000000	- 20
		2007-11-20.00:00:00	00000010	00	000000.00	0/2501.95	30(69).30	00000000	- 89
		2007-01-24 05:00 - 0	000007/0	77	202001-20	0.2473.03	006452-15	000000.00	- 101
		2007-01-24 (12-04-22)	00000000	T0	101001-00	0.2473.03	006452-15	000000.00	- 69
		2007-01-24-00-45-121	00000220	1	202001-00	0.242013	0064/330	000000.00	- 103
		2007-01-24-00-24-02	00858000	0	202001-00	0.242013	0064/330	000000.00	- 83
		2007-01-22105-05105-051	00000020	1	10000 m	0.239383	Y638 Y	0000000	-

The table can be saved as XML or text file for further processing or exported directly to the Excel table calculation program (see chapter 5.9 "Display Window").

Event types

The following table shows which event types can be recorded under which event number in the event log:

Event type	Number
Tariff registers cleared	2
Load profile memory cleared	3
Battery charge low	5
Battery voltage ok	7
Meter reset performed	8
Summer/winter changeover	9
Time/date newly set (old values)	10
Time/date newly set (new values)	11
Control inputs status changed	13
Undervoltage phase L1	17
Undervoltage phase L2	18
Undervoltage phase L3	19
Overvoltage phase L1	20
Overvoltage phase L2	21
Overvoltage phase L3	22
Voltage failure	23
Voltage return	24
Overcurrent phase L1	25
Overcurrent phase L2	26
Overcurrent phase L3	27
Overcurrent neutral	28
Power factors fallen below (4)	29 to 32

Event type	Number
Power factors exceeded (8)	33 to 40
Error during self-test (4)	45 to 48
Voltage failure phase 1	49
Voltage failure phase 2	50
Voltage failure phase 3	51
Error "Battery voltage low"	65
Error "Time/date invalid"	66
Error "Access measuring system memory"	75
Error "Time base"	76
Error "Ripple control receiver"	78
Error "Communication unit"	79
Error "Display and control panel"	80
Error "Internal overflow in measuring system"	89
Error "Measuring system failed"	90
Error "Re-programming failed"	91
Error "Setting mode failed"	92
Error "System failed"	93
Error "Communication blocked"	94
Error "Wrong flash memory identification"	95
Error "Wrong function extensions identification"	96
Failure of an SMS message transmission to GSM modem	105
Important operating message recorded	106

EDIS status word The following table shows which individual events are displayed under what numbers (corresponding to the bit of the status word). The status code is a 4 byte code according to EDIS whose bits indicate the current status of the meter and the network it is connected to.

The EDIS status word has a size of 4 bytes and can be restricted to 2 bytes by parameterisation with the Landis+Gyr MAP120. In this case only the bytes 1 and 2 (bits 1 to 16) are available. In the IEC readout only the bytes 1 and 2 will be included no matter the parameterisation.

Bit assignment in EDIS status word:

Byte 4	Byte 3	Byte 2	Byte 1
Bit 32 31 30 29 28 27 26 25	24 23 22 21 20 19 18 17	16 15 14 13 12 11 10 9	8 7 6 5 4 3 2 1

Number	Error description
1	Fatal error occurred
2	Power reserve of calendar clock exhausted (time invalid)
3	Incomplete measurement owing to integrating period too short

Number	Error description
4	Summer or winter time Depending on the parameterisation this bit is static $(1 = \text{summer}, 0 = \text{winter})$ or dynamic, i.e. only active during the first recording period following the change from summer to winter time and vice-versa.
5	Resetting performed
6	Time/date set (time stamp of new time)
7	Voltages returned (power up)
8	Voltages (3 phases) failed (power down)
9	not used
10	not used
11	not used
12	not used
13	not used
14	Event log completely deleted
15	Load profile memory completely deleted
16	Status word recorded before setting last time (time stamp of old time)
17	reserved
18	reserved
19	reserved
20	Integrating period started (SOI - start of interval)
21	Integrating period ended by tariff changeover (EOI - end of interval)
22	Integrating period ended prematurely (e.g. by time setting)
23	Integrating period ended normally by external control
24	Integrating period ended normally by internal control
25 to 32	reserved for future extensions

7.1.4 Read Commands for Load Profiles

With read commands for load profiles the load profile memory is read from the meter and shown in the display window.

For execution, select the "Load Profile" (dlms meters) or "Load Profile R5" (IEC meters) read command in the command tree.

The profile range to be read out can be specified in a dialogue window:

- all (default)
- last x days (with x entered)
- from a specific starting date to a specific final date



Shortening readout time by data selection

It is highly recommended to perform a data selection before readout, since readout of the entire event log can take a considerable time (above all if the meter has a short integrating period).

Cal		
🕫 last	2 days	
C bon	Montag 19. September 2005 _ F 00.01	-
to	Mittwoch . 21 September 2005 🕑 🖭	-

The load profile data read out are shown as a table in the display window. With readout by dlms the table contains the date and time-of-day, EDIS status word and the register statuses recorded for every integrating period. An explanatory text is displayed by positioning the mouse pointer on a column heading or cell. For example the significance of the coded EDIS status word (see also table in chapter 7.1.3 "Read Commands for Event Logs") are decoded directly and all individual events displayed.

.		1017 10	01/024_12	111 d (K-V)	112.0469	112 (006-sc)	11.71	20 B
	F	2020/24/3001/2010	manualy	10001	ገጽሞ	0780	0.0000	
l ≈ 1∐		2010/02/03 00:30:30:30	ກອາກທ 🖽	5 Cracus	17730	0450	0.0000	- 0
		40.01213014-1	1410	111 🛛 1	1.6.3	1.0751	1 11 11	- 22
		ALC: PERIOD FOR	1410 N	111 🛙 1	12.9	1.1126.1	1 11 11	- 0
		ALC: CONTRACT	1410 🥇	and a second second	and the second by the	E REAL	1 11 11	
		2000/12/08/07:40:001	nanu -	20000	27460		0.000	
		2000/02/03/07:20:001	JAJUN N	1000	3,7490	1.0100	0.000	31
		20061213020000	1410 🚰			- - - 30	0.000	
		200612130216:001	LALU 🐻	o of period incostruit	naly controlled) [241 20	0.000	23
		200612130223.00	LALU -	7070	37490	1.0120	0.000	- 33
		200612130226:00	1410	1000	3,7460	1.0110	0.000	23
		3050200030:30		1000	3.7400	1.0153	0.000	- 33
		2005-02-00 02:15:00	3030300	3,0000	3,7450	1.0120	0.0000	T
	4						20000	000E

With readout according to IEC the table contains the same data for every load profile entry as for readout under dlms, although they are shown slightly differently (e.g. preceding zeros).

The table can be saved as XML or text file for further processing or exported directly to the Excel table calculation program (see chapter 5.9 "Display Window").

7.1.5 Read Command for Emergency Readout

With the read command for emergency readout the meter data can be read out into a XML file, e.g. if communication between the central station and the meter fails (for IEC meters only). This XML file can be imported later on into the meter2cash automatic meter reading system "Converge".

For execution, select the read command for emergency readout in the command tree marked with the symbol \mathbf{m} .

🖃 💋 F	lead Commands
	📱 IEC Data Readout
	🔹 Emergency Readout
6	🤌 Date and Time
	👔 Load Profile R5
	📱 Event Log R5
	Identification Number 1.1
	Identification Number 1.2
	Identification Number 1.3
	Identification Number 1.4
	Physical IEC Device Address
÷ 💋 V	Vrite Commands
÷б Е	xecute Commands

The following data can be specified in a dialogue window:

- read out only billing data or billing data and load profile in the range specified
- meter identification automatically by OBIS code contained in the billing data or manually
- working folder, where the XML file shall be stored

APT10 - Emergency Readout	1
Date	
(* Billing Data	
C Billing Data and Load Prolile	
@ instatoy	
C harr 20.09.2005 💌 to [21.09	2005 👱
Anter Identification Submatically by OBIS Code Standard [0.0] or [0.0.0] C user defined [0.0]	1
C manualy	1
Working Folder	

After clicking **Read** the selected data will be stored into a XML file in the working folder specified.

The file name corresponds to the meter identification, the extension is xml, e.g. '77708190.xml'. If the same meter is read out several times, the previous file is overwritten without warning.

7.2 Write Commands

Chapter 12 "Functional Range per User Group" describes which write commands are available to the individual user groups.

For execution, select the corresponding write command in the command tree marked with the symbol ψ or \mathfrak{D} .



With write commands the current parameter or value is always read out first from the meter and displayed in a dialogue window for modification, e.g. for setting time and date:

Mittwoch , 21. September 2005	16:19:34	
	QK.	Cancel

or for writing an identification number:

1	
OK Carcel	1
Zr. Zaice	
	QK Garcel

Modify the data displayed and then click on **Ok**. The modified data are written in the meter and recorded in the trace window (command left, value right):

	192777-1019. (131) connected Drite Pail and Time	2001-04-04-2001 No 14-204
	Juite Identification Number 1.3	·//0_190
40		

7.3 Execute Commands

Chapter 12 "Functional Range per User Group" describes which execute commands are available to the individual user groups.

For execution, select the relevant execution command in the command tree marked with the symbol \ddagger .



The execute command is transmitted to the meter and executed there. The commands executed are recorded in the trace window:



7.4 Diagnostic Commands

Chapter 12 "Functional Range per User Group" describes which diagnostic commands are available to the individual user groups.

7.4.1 GSM Installation Support

This diagnostic command can only be used if the meter connected has a communication unit with GSM modem.

For execution, select the "GSM Installation Support" diagnostic command in the command tree.



The field strengths of the cell logged in and all neighbouring cells are displayed in the "GSM Installation Support" window. When used on the spot this allows the optimum antenna position to be determined or a check made of received field strength with remote connection.

Logged to Cell	
-77 (dim)	EMISS 65M (22801)
Neighbour Cells	
(#B)(#0)	9w155 65H (22801)
-05 (dBw)	 9WISS 65H (22801)
-109 [dB=]	PWISS GEM (23801)

Measurement of field strength is

 continuously updated if the values are read out via meter and optical head and no communication takes place simultaneously via the GSM channel, or not continuously updated if the values are read out via the GSM channel (in this case the values measured immediately after making the connection are displayed).

Clicking **Stop** interrupts a current measurement of field strength.

Clicking **Restart** repeats the interrupted measurement of field strength.

The diagnostic command is ended with **Cancel**.

7.4.2 Vector Diagram

A vector diagram of the currents and voltages of the meter connected can be displayed with this dagnostic command.

For execution, select the "Vector Diagram" diagnostic command in the command tree.



A vector diagram is shown in the "Vector Diagram" window, which is calculated from the continuously read instantaneous values of voltages, currents and phase angles. The individual instantaneous values in the code are displayed.



Clicking **Stop** interrupts a current measurement.

Clicking Adjust a print preview, from which the vector diagram can be printed on the standard printer specified.

Clicking copies the vector diagram to the Windows clipboard, from where it can be inserted in another application (e.g. in a word processing program).

The diagnostic command is ended with **Cancel**.

7.4.3 Security System

With this diagnostic command the meter security system data can be displayed with the Excel table calculation program.

For execution, select the "Security System" diagnostic command in the command tree.



The security system data are read from the meter connected and displayed as follows in the Excel table calculation program:



The desired security level can be selected in the selection box at top left. The access rights for the level selected for individual data, parameters, commands and passwords are then displayed by means of colors according to the color code.

7.4.4 Load Profile Analysis

With this diagnostic command an evaluation of the meter load profile can be displayed with the Excel table calculation program.

For execution, select the "Load Profile Analysis" diagnostic command in the command tree.



The profile range to be read out can be entered in a dialogue window:

- one day (default)
- one week
- one month

before the likewise selectable final date (the starting date is calculated automatically).



Shortening readout time by data selection

It is highly recommended to perform a data selection before readout, since readout of the entire event log can take a considerable time (above all if the meter has a short integrating period).



The load profile data are read from the meter connected.
The load profile data read out are shown as follows with the Excel table calculation program:



The various mean demand values per integrating period are displayed in a diagram in the upper section by means of colors according to the color code.

The events to be shown can be selected in the selection boxes on the right. If a corresponding event has occurred in the period under review, it is shown in the diagram with a red dot at the level of the selection box.

The individual load profile values and events can be seen in the table below the diagram. Navigation is possible in the table with the arrow keys or the wheel of a roller mouse. A vertical dotted line in the diagram indicates on which data in the table the cursor is currently placed.

7.4.5 DIP Table

A graphic evaluation of all voltage failures occurring since the last deletion of the DIP table can be performed with this diagnostic command.

For execution, select the "DIP Table" diagnostic command in the command tree.



A diagram and a table with number, duration and category of voltage failures are shown in the display window.



The categories, i.e. the severity of the voltage failures, is represented in color, e.g. voltage failures of 1 to 40 % of rated voltage in violet. The table contains a line for each category, the diagram a series of bars in the x-direction.

The number of voltage failures occurring is shown in the table as numeral and in the diagram as bar height.

The duration of the voltage failures is divided into four ranges: 20 to 100 ms, 100 to 500 ms, 0.5 to 1 s and 1 to 3 s. The table contains a column for each range, the diagram a series of bars in the y-axis with bars of different color.

If a change has occurred since the last readout, the relevant bar is shown in red.

If the cursor is placed on a column or line heading or cell in the table, the corresponding bar series in the x or y axis or the relevant individual bar is shown highlighted.



Conversely if the cursor is placed on a bar in the diagram, the corresponding cell in the table is shown highlighted and the value also indicated in the diagram.



Clicking on **I** or with the right mouse key in the display window and then selecting the **Save as...** menu item in the pop-up menu appearing opens the "Save as" dialogue window to save the data displayed in a freely selected directory either as XML file (default) or as text file.

Clicking Adjusted a printing preview, from which the contents of the display window can be printed with the standard printer specified.

Clicking copies the contents of the display window to the Windows clipboard, from where they can be inserted in another application (e.g. in a word processing program).

Deletion of the DIP table can be performed with the "Reset DIP Table" diagnostic command.

7.5 Auxiliary Functions

This chapter describes some auxiliary functions of the Landis+Gyr MAP110 Service Tool:

- displaying help topics
- displaying the current version of the program
- setting the color for inactive commands

7.5.1 Displaying Help Topics

This function permits access to the help texts for the Landis+Gyr MAP110 Service Tool. These help texts correspond to the contents of this user manual.

Procedure:

1. Click on 😟 in the tool bar or select **Help** from the **?** menu. The online help for the Landis+Gyr MAP110 Service Tool appears.



2. Find the desired information.

Since the help function is a standard Windows function it will not be explained at this point. More details are found in the Windows manual belonging to your personal computer.

3. Click on \bowtie to close the online help.

7.5.2 Displaying the Current Version of the Program

This function permits the display of information on the current program version.



Clear version description is the package release

The current program version is specified as package Version (second line of information).

Procedure:

 Click on in the tool bar or select **About** from the ? menu. The "MAP110 - About" window appears. It contains information about the current version of the program.

MAP110 - About		×
Landis	Product	Lands+Gyr MAP110
iGvr ⁺	Package Version	12.04
	Tool Version	12
	Build	24.08.2005 16:48:10
	Company	Lands+Gyr
	Concept by	BSI Business Systems Integration AG http://www.bsiag.com
		Qose

- 2. Read the information displayed.
- 3. Click on **OK**. The "MAP110 - About" window disappears.

7.5.3 Setting Color for Inactive Commands

The color for emphasising inactive commands can be set individually with this setting (see also 5.8 "Command Tree").

Procedure:

 Select **Options...** from the **Extras** menu. The "MAP110 - Options" window appears with the color currently selected for inactive commands.

MAP110 - Options	×
Color Disabled Commands	Change
<u>D</u> K.	Gancel

2. Click on **Change...**

The "Color" window appears with a color pallet.



3. Select the desired color and then click on **OK**.

The newly selected color for inactive commands is displayed in the "MAP110 - Options" window.

MAP110 - Op	tions	×
Co	lor Disabled Commands	Change
	<u>O</u> K	Gancel

4. Click on **OK**.

The "MAP110 - Options" window disappears and the inactive commands are emphasised in the new color in the command tree, provided this function is switched on. This chapter describes how to de-install the Landis+Gyr MAP110 Service Tool from the hard disk of your personal computer.

If the Landis+Gyr MAP110 Service Tool is no longer needed, it should be de-installed. To do so, use the de-installation program delivered and installed together with the Landis+Gyr MAP110 Service Tool. Simply deleting the files and directories by means of the Window explorer delete functions does not remove all elements of the program (i.e. entries in the registry and in system files).



Automatic de-installation of old versions

If the Landis+Gyr MAP110 Service Tool is to be updated with a later version, the old version is de-installed automatically by the installation program.

Procedure:

 Click on Start and then select the MAP110 Uninstall command from the menu Programs, Landis+Gyr MAP110.
 The install shield starts running and asks you first whether you really

The install shield starts running and asks you first whether you really want to completely remove the program and all of its components.

n		×
pletely remove the	selected application and all of i	ts components?
ОК	Abbrechen	
	pletely remove the OK	pletely remove the selected application and all of i

2. Click on **OK**.

The de-installation is carried out and the progress is reported on the screen.

Landis+Gyr MAP Setu	P		×
Setup Status			
Ph710Celupidips	riorning the requested	operations.	
		72%	
nəlālabi ———			
			1 1

The successful completion is indicated with the following message.



3. Click on **Finish**. The de-installation process is completed.

9 Support

The following is designed to help you take the right measure to tackle any problems you may experience when using the Landis+Gyr MAP110 Service Tools.

If a problem arises try to solve it yourself first by applying the following measures:

- Consult the appropriate chapter of this manual.
- Call up the help function as described in chapter 7.5.1 "Displaying Help Topics".
- Read the content of the file README.TXT, supplied with the software.

If these measures do not help, contact your local Landis+Gyr representative.

10 Short Description of Meter Security System

10.1 Introduction

The data and parameters of Landis+Gyr meters are protected against inadvertent or improper overwriting by a multistage security system.

Detailed information on the security system for the relevant meters is provided in the associated functional descriptions.

10.2 Security Attributes

The meter and the communication unit feature several access levels with different security attributes. For each access level, the security attributes can be defined that must be fulfilled for a successful data access.

Switches protected
by the certification
sealUnder the main face plate, protected by the certification seal, there is a
block of security switches. Their position must be defined in order to gain
access to a particular level.

- **Entering the service** It may be defined that access to a certain level will only be granted from the service menu. To enter the service menu the utility seal must be opened.
- **Passwords** A password may be defined for some access levels. The utility may chose whether a static 8-character password or a coded 7-character password should be used.
- **Communication channels** The access to a certain level may be restricted so that it is only granted via selected communication channels. Access is for instance possible via the optical interface, the integrated interface and both communication channels of the communication unit.

10.3 Access Levels

The Landis+Gyr meters feature 15 different access levels (level 0 to 9 and A to E) with different access rights each. A distinction is also made between read access and write access. For each register and each parameter, it can be defined which level is required to read and which level is required to write.

All access levels are strictly independent i.e. a higher access level does not automatically bear all rights of the lower access levels.

It should be noted when using the dims protocol that access is possible at all levels. If the IEC protocol is used exclusively for communication, only the lower 5 levels are available (level 0 to level 4).

The following security elements can still be selected for some levels:

- Password (if it is used)
- Access via the different communication channels can be enabled or disabled.

10.4 Access Levels and their Application

The table below describes all access levels with their security attributes and their typical application. For levels 0 to 4 access is possible via the dlms and IEC protocol, for levels 5 to F only via the dlms protocol.

Level	Security attributes	Access rights / application examples
0	without password	This access level is always available. All dlms meters
Public Access	without breaking a seal	can be accessed on this level. All data can be read but there is no write access.
(IEC and dlms)		
1	with static password	Readout of billing data by means of a handheld
Data Collection	without breaking a seal	terminal or possibly by a central station.
(IEC and dlms)		All billing data are readable.
		Limited write access possible, e.g. time/date.
2	with coded password	Installation or maintenance tasks in the field.
Utility Field Service	without breaking a seal	All parameters and all billing data are readable.
(IEC and dlms)	Landis+Gyr Tool required because of coded pass- word	Limited write access to settable data is possible, e.g. device addresses, identification numbers, phone numbers etc.
3	without password	Installation or maintenance work in the utility.
Utility Service	breaking the utility seal	All parameters and all billing data are readable.
(IEC and dlms)	necessary	Write access to settable data is granted, e.g. battery operating time, switching tables etc.
4	without password	Re-parameterisation in the utility.
Extended Utility Service	breaking the verification	All parameters and all billing data are readable.
(IEC and dlms)	seal necessary	Write access to settable and parameterisable data is granted, e.g. register clearing, password setting etc.
		After the access, a verification is required.
5	with static password	Write access for the end user.
Extended Consumer	without breaking a seal	All parameters and most billing data are readable.
(dlms only)		Write access to most user data is granted, e.g. monitor thresholds.
6	with static password	Readout of billing data by a central station.
Remote Data Collection	without breaking a seal	All billing data are readable.
(dlms only)	no access via the optical interface	Limited write access is possible, e.g. time/date.
7	with static password	Installation or maintenance work in connection with a
Remote Service	without breaking a seal	central station.
(dlms only)	no access via the optical	All parameters and all billing data are readable.
	interface	Write access to a limited number of settable data is granted, e.g. switching tables, device addresses, identification numbers, phone numbers etc.
8, 9, A, B (dlms only)		Reserved for future expansion.

Security attributes	Access rights / application examples		
with static password	Allocation of read access rights		
without breaking a seal	All parameter and all billing data are readable.		
	Read access rights for all lower levels (0 to B) can be allocated.		
with coded password	As level 4.		
breaking the verification seal necessary	In addition, changes in the utility security system are possible:		
access via optical interface only	Read and write access rights can be adapted and all passwords can be changed.		
Landis+Gyr Tool required	No access is granted via telemetering systems.		
word	After the access, a verification is required.		
with coded password	Service access of the distributor.		
breaking the verification	Identical to level D.		
seal necessary	In addition, changing the access rights and the pass-		
access via optical	No access is granted via telemetering systems		
Landis+Gyr Tool required because of coded pass- word	After the access, a verification is required.		
	Security attributes with static password without breaking a seal with coded password breaking the verification seal necessary access via optical interface only Landis+Gyr Tool required because of coded password with coded password with coded password breaking the verification seal necessary access via optical interface only Landis+Gyr Tool required breaking the verification seal necessary access via optical interface only Landis+Gyr Tool required because of coded pass- word		

11 OBIS Identification Codes

11.1 General Description

For OBIS (Object Identification System) the structure **A-B:C.D.E.F** applies, whereby the individual groups have the following significance:

- **A** Defines the characteristic of the data item to be identified, e.g. abstract data, electricity-, gas-, heat- or water-related data.
- **B** Defines the channel number, i.e. the number of the input of a metering equipment having several inputs for the measurement of energy of the same or different types (e.g. in data concentrators, registration units). This enables data from different sources to be identified.
- C Defines the abstract or physical data items related to the information source concerned, e.g. active power, reactive power, apparent power, $\cos\varphi$, current or voltage.
- **D** Defines types, or the result of the processing of physical quantities according to various specific algorithms. The algorithms can deliver energy and demand quantities as well as other physical quantities.
- **E** Defines the further processing of measurement results to tariff registers, according to the tariffs in use. For abstract data or for measurement results for which tariffs are not relevant, this value group can be used for further classification.
- **F** Defines the storage of data according to different billing periods. Where this is not relevant, this value group can be used for further classification.

To simplify the reading in the index field, individual groups of the OBIS code can be omitted. The abstract or physical data C and type of data D must be shown. A full specification of the OBIS identification number system can be found in standard IEC 62056-61.

Only the values of interest to meters are explained below with a collection of examples.

Group A	Group A of the OBIS identification can theoretically have values in the range between 0 and 15. Only the values 0 (abstract objects) and 1 (electricity related objects) appear in the Landis+Gyr MAP120 Parameterization Tool.
Group B	Group B of the OBIS identification can theoretically have values in the range between 0 and 255. Only the values 0 (no channel specified) 1 (channel 1) and 2 (channel 2)

appear in the Landis+Gyr MAP120 Parameterization Tool.

Group C

Group C of the OBIS identification can have values in the range between 0 and 255. The individual values are differently assigned depending on the value of group A. The values for abstract items (group A = 0) are of no interest at this point, since they are largely specific to either context, country or manufacturer. On the other hand, the values for items related to electricity are listed in the following table.

Value	Application
0	General purpose objects
1	Sum of all phases: active energy import (+A)
2	Sum of all phases: active energy export (-A)
3	Sum of all phases: reactive energy import (+R)
4	Sum of all phases: reactive energy export (-R)
5	Sum of all phases: reactive energy quadrant I (+Ri)
6	Sum of all phases: reactive energy quadrant II (-Rc)
7	Sum of all phases: reactive energy quadrant III (-Ri)
8	Sum of all phases: reactive energy quadrant IV (+Rc)
9	Sum of all phases: apparent energy import (+S)
10	Sum of all phases: apparent energy export (-S)
11	Any phase: current
12	Any phase: voltage
13	Average power factor ($\cos \phi$)
14	Mains frequency (fn)
15	Sum of all phases: active energy quadrant I+IV+II+III
16	Sum of all phases: active energy quadrant I+IV-II-III
17	Sum of all phases: active energy quadrant I
18	Sum of all phases: active energy quadrant II
19	Sum of all phases: active energy quadrant III
20	Sum of all phases: active energy quadrant IV
21	Phase 1: active energy import
22	Phase 1: active energy export
23	Phase 1: reactive energy import
24	Phase 1: reactive energy export
25	Phase 1: reactive energy quadrant I
26	Phase 1: reactive energy quadrant II
27	Phase 1: reactive energy quadrant III
28	Phase 1: reactive energy quadrant IV
29	Phase 1: apparent energy import
30	Phase 1: apparent energy export
31	Phase 1: current
32	Phase 1: voltage

Value	Application
33	Phase 1: power factor
34	Phase 1: frequency
35	Phase 1: active energy quadrant I+IV+II+III
36	Phase 1: active energy quadrant I+IV-II-III
37	Phase 1: quadrant I
38	Phase 1: quadrant II
39	Phase 1: quadrant III
40	Phase 1: quadrant IV
4160	Phase 2: same as 2140
6180	Phase 3: same as 2140
81	Phase angles
82	Unitless quantity (pulses or pieces)
8390	Not used
91	Neutral: current
92	Neutral: voltage
9395	Not used
96	Electricity-related service entries
97	Electricity-related error messages
98	Electricity-related list objects
99	Data profiles
100127	Reserved
128254	Manufacturer-specific definitions
	Landis+Gyr:
	 130 = Sum of all phases: reactive energy quadrant I+IV+II+III 131 = Sum of all phases: reactive energy quadrant I+II-III-IV 132 = Sum of all phases: reactive energy quadrant I+IV 133 = Sum of all phases: reactive energy quadrant II+III
	150 = Phase 1: reactive energy quadrant I+IV+II+III 151 = Phase 1: reactive energy quadrant I+II-III-IV 152 = Phase 1: reactive energy quadrant I+IV 153 = Phase 1: reactive energy quadrant II+III
	170 = Phase 2: reactive energy quadrant I+IV+II+III 171 = Phase 2: reactive energy quadrant I+II-III-IV 172 = Phase 2: reactive energy quadrant I+IV 173 = Phase 2: reactive energy quadrant II+III
	190 = Phase 3: reactive energy quadrant I+IV+II+III 191 = Phase 3: reactive energy quadrant I+II-III-IV 192 = Phase 3: reactive energy quadrant I+IV 193 = Phase 3: reactive energy quadrant II+III
255	Reserved

Group D	Group D of the OBIS identification can have values in the range between 0 and 255. The individual values are differently assigned depending on the value of group A and C, but are not described here.
Group E	Group E of the OBIS identification can have values in the range between 0 and 255. In the Landis+Gyr MAP120 Parameterization Tool for group E for electricity-related items (group A = 1) the values corresponding to the number of tariffs specified mainly appear (0 = total of all tariffs, 1 = tariff 1, 2 = tariff 2, etc.). Other values apply for specific values of group C, but these are not described here.
Group F	Group F of the OBIS identification can have values in the range between 0 and 255. In the Landis+Gyr MAP120 Parameterization Tool group F is not used and is therefore always set to 255.

11.2 Examples

The following table shows a selection of OBIS identification numbers and explains their significance.

OBIS code	OBIS code (hex)				ex)		Description
(decimal)	A	В	С	D	Ε	F	
0-0:1.0.0	00	00	01	00	00	FF	Clock
0-0:42.0.0	00	00	2A	00	00	FF	dlms device identification
0-0:C.1.0	00	00	60	01	00	FF	Identification number 2.1
0-0:C.1.1	00	00	60	01	01	FF	Identification number 2.2
0-0:C.2.0	00	00	60	02	00	FF	Number of parameterisations
0-0:C.2.1	00	00	60	02	01	FF	Date and time of last parameterisation
0-0:C.2.2	00	00	60	02	02	FF	Activation date TOU
0-0:C.2.3	00	00	60	02	03	FF	Date of last RCR program change
0-0:C.240.0	00	00	60	F0	00	FF	EEPROM identification
0-0:C.240.13	00	00	60	F0	0D	FF	Hardware ID
0-0:C.3.1	00	00	60	03	01	FF	Input terminal states base meter
0-0:C.3.2	00	00	60	03	02	FF	Output terminal states base meter
0-0:C.4.0	00	00	60	04	00	FF	Internal control signal states
0-0:C.5.0	00	00	60	05	00	FF	Internal operating state
0-0:C.6.0	00	00	60	06	00	FF	Operating time of battery
0-0:C.6.3	00	00	60	06	03	FF	Battery voltage
0-0:C.7.0	00	00	60	07	00	FF	Number of phase fails L1L3
0-0:C.7.1	00	00	60	07	01	FF	Number of phase fails L1
0-0:C.7.2	00	00	60	07	02	FF	Number of phase fails L2
0-0:C.7.3	00	00	60	07	03	FF	Number of phase fails L3
0-0:C.8.0	00	00	60	08	00	FF	Total operating time
0-0:C.8.t	00	00	60	08	t	FF	Operating time (t = tariff number)

OBIS code	OB	IS	cod	e (h	ex)		Description		
(decimal)	A	В	С	D	Е	F			
0-0:C.90	00	00	60	5A	FF	FF	Configuration ID		
0-0:C.90.1	00	00	60	5A	01	FF	Physical IEC device address		
0-0:C.90.2	00	00	60	5A	02	FF	Physical HDLC device address		
1-0:C.2.7	00	00	60	02	07	FF	Activation date passive TOU		
0-0:F.F.0	00	00	61	61	00	FF	Error code register		
0-0:L.1.0*126	00	00	62	01	00	7E	Stored values		
0-0:240.1.0	00	00	F0	01	00	FF	Meter functions		
0-1:C.2.5	00	01	60	02	05	FF	Date and time of last calibration		
0-1:C.240.8	00	01	60	F0	08	FF	Hardware ID of base meter		
0-1:C.3.1	00	01	60	03	01	FF	Input terminal states extension board		
0-1:C.3.2	00	01	60	03	02	FF	Output terminal states extension board		
0-2:C.240.8	00	02	60	F0	08	FF	Hardware ID of extension board		
0-2:C.240.9	00	02	60	F0	09	FF	Reference hardware ID of extension board		
1-0:0.0.1	01	00	00	00	00	FF	Identification number 1.1		
1-0:0.0.2	01	00	00	00	01	FF	Identification number 1.2		
1-0:0.0.3	01	00	00	00	02	FF	Identification number 1.3		
1-0:0.0.4	01	00	00	00	03	FF	Identification number 1.4		
1-0:0.1.0	01	00	00	01	00	FF	Reset counter		
1-0:0.1.2	01	00	00	01	02	FF	Time and date of last billing period reset		
1-0:0.2.0	01	00	00	02	00	FF	Software ID		
1-0:0.2.1	01	00	00	02	01	FF	Parameterisation ID		
1-0:0.2.3	01	00	00	02	03	FF	Ripple control receiver ID		
1-0:0.2.4	01	00	00	02	04	FF	Connection ID		
1-0:0.2.7	01	00	00	02	07	FF	Passive TOU ID		
1-0:0.9.5	01	00	00	09	05	FF	Weekday		
1-0:C.99.8	01	00	60	69	08	FF	Display and IEC readout ID		
1-0:P.1.0	01	00	63	01	00	FF	Load profile		
1-0:P.98.0	01	00	63	62	00	FF	Event log		
1-1:0.3.0	01	01	00	03	00	FF	Meter constant active energy		
1-1:0.3.1	01	01	00	03	01	FF	Meter constant reactive energy		
1-1:0.4.0	01	01	00	04	00	FF	Scale factor for demand display		
1-1:0.4.1	01	01	00	04	01	FF	Scale factor for energy display		
1-1:0.4.2	01	01	00	04	02	FF	Current transformer ratio		
1-1:0.4.3	01	01	00	04	03	FF	Voltage transformer ratio		
1-1:13.0.0	01	01	0D	00	00	FF	Average billing period power factor		

OBIS code	OB	IS	code	e (h	ex))	Description		
(decimal)	A	В	С	D	Ε	F			
1-1:13.3.n	01	01	0D	03	n	FF	Power factor minimum (n = number)		
1-1:13.31.n	01	01	0D	23	n	FF	Power factor threshold (n = number)		
1-1:13.35.n	01	01	0D	23	n	FF	Power factor monitor threshold (n = number)		
1-1:13.5.0	01	01	0D	00	00	FF	Last average power factor		
1-1:13.7.0	01	01	0D	07	00	FF	Total power factor		
1-1:14.7.0	01	01	0E	07	00	FF	Mains frequency		
1-1:16.7.0	01	01	10	07	00	FF	Active energy		
1-1:31.7.0	01	01	1F	07	00	FF	Current L1		
1-1:31.35.0	01	01	1F	23	00	FF	Overcurrent threshold L1		
1-1:32.7.0	01	01	20	07	00	FF	Voltage L1		
1-1:32.31.0	01	01	20	1F	00	FF	Undervoltage threshold L1		
1-1:32.35.0	01	01	20	23	00	FF	Overvoltage threshold L1		
1-1:33.7.0	01	01	21	07	00	FF	Power factor L1		
1-1:51.7.0	01	01	33	07	00	FF	Current L2		
1-1:51.35.0	01	01	33	23	00	FF	Overcurrent threshold L2		
1-1:52.7.0	01	01	34	07	00	FF	Voltage L2		
1-1:52.31.0	01	01	34	1F	00	FF	Undervoltage threshold L2		
1-1:52.35.0	01	01	34	23	00	FF	Overvoltage threshold L2		
1-1:53.7.0	01	01	35	07	00	FF	Power Factor L2		
1-1:71.7.0	01	01	47	07	00	FF	Current L3		
1-1:71.35.0	01	01	47	23	00	FF	Overcurrent threshold L3		
1-1:72.7.0	01	01	48	07	00	FF	Voltage L3		
1-1:72.31.0	01	01	48	1F	00	FF	Undervoltage threshold L3		
1-1:72.35.0	01	01	48	23	00	FF	Overvoltage threshold L3		
1-1:73.7.0	01	01	49	07	00	FF	Power Factor L3		
1-1:81.7.0	01	01	51	07	00	FF	Angle U(L1) to U(L1)		
1-1:81.7.1	01	01	51	07	01	FF	Angle U(L2) to U(L1)		
1-1:81.7.2	01	01	51	07	02	FF	Angle U(L3) to U(L1)		
1-1:81.7.3	01	01	51	07	04	FF	Angle I(L1) to U(L1)		
1-1:81.7.4	01	01	51	07	05	FF	Angle I(L2) to U(L1)		
1-1:81.7.5	01	01	51	07	06	FF	Angle I(L3) to U(L1)		
1-1:91.7.0	01	01	5B	07	00	FF	Neutral current		
1-1:91.35.0	01	01	5B	23	00	FF	Overcurrent threshold N		
1-1:131.7.0	01	01	83	07	00	FF	Reactive energy		
1-1:m.2.0	01	01	m	02	00	FF	Cumulative maximum demand (m = measured quantity)		

OBIS code	OB	SIS o	cod	e (h	ex)		Description		
(decimal)	A	В	С	D	Ε	F			
1-1:m.4.0	01	01	m	04	00	FF	Current average demand (m = measured quantity)		
1-1:m.6.t	01	01	m	06	t	FF	Maximum demand register (m = measured quantity, t = tariff number)		
1-1:m.8.0	01	01	m	08	00	FF	Total energy register (m = measured quantity)		
1-1:m.8.t	01	01	m	08	t	FF	Energy register (cumulative) (m = measured quantity, t = tariff number)		
1-1:m.9.t	01	01	m	09	t	FF	Energy register (billing period delta value) (m = measured quantity, t = tariff number)		
1-1:m.29.t	01	01	m	1D	t	FF	Energy register (registration period delta value) (m = measured quantity, t = tariff number)		
1-1:m.35.n	01	01	m	23	n	FF	Demand register monitor threshold (m = measured quantity, n = number)		
1-2:82.8.0	01	02	52	08	00	FF	Counter S0 pulses input 1		
1-3:82.8.0	01	03	52	08	00	FF	Counter S0 pulses input 2		
a-2:m.8.0	а	02	m	08	00	FF	External pulse input 1 (a = medium, m = measured quantity)		
a-3:m.8.0	а	03	m	08	00	FF	External pulse input 2 (a = medium, m = measured quantity)		

12 Functional Range per User Group

The following tables show the functions which can be performed for all user groups (note right-hand columns for dlms and IEC).

Read Commands

					User Group		
					Consumer (final customer)		
					Reader		
					Installation (field use)		
					Engineering (laboratory use)		
					Certification		
					Read Commands	dlms	IEC
•	•	•	•	•	Data Readout	•	•
•	٠	•	•	•	Emergency Readout		•
•	•	•	•	•	Date and Time	•	•
•	•	•	•	•	Time Base	•	
•	•	•	•	•	Load Profile	•	R5
	•	•	•	•	Event Log	•	R5
•	•	•	•	•	Stored Values	•	
	٠	•	•	•	Energy and Total Energy Registers	•	
	•	•	•	•	Demand and Power Factor Registers	•	
	٠	•	•	•	Identification Numbers	•	•
•	•	•	•	•	Connection ID	•	
•	٠	•	•	•	Parameterization ID	•	
		•	•	•	Physical Device Addresses	•	IEC
		•	•	•	Optical and Electrical Interfaces	•	
		•	•	•	Interfaces Communication Unit	•	
		•	•	•	Operating Mode RS485	•	
		•	•	•	IEC Access on Communication Unit	•	
			•	•	CS/S0+ Type	•	
		•	•	•	Modem Telefon Number	•	
		•	•	•	PIN State	•	
		•	•	•	Instantaneous Values	•	
		•	•	•	Passive and Active TOU ID	•	
			•	•	Operating Time Registers	•	
	٠	•	•	•	Power Factor Monitor Thresholds	•	
	•	•	•	•	Battery Operating Time	•	
	٠	•	•	•	Battery Voltage	•	
•	•	•	•	•	Billing Period Counter	•	
	٠	•	•	•	Time and Date of Last Billing Period Reset	•	
			•	•	Billing Period Reset Settings	•	
			•	•	Energy Snapshot Settings	•	

Write Commands

				User Group		
				Consumer (final customer)		
				Reader		
				Installation (field use)		
				Engineering (laboratory use)		
				Certification		
				Write Commands	dlms	IEC
•	•	•	•	Set Time and Date according to PC Time	•	•
•	•	•	•	Date and Time	•	•
	•	•	•	Time Base	•	
	•	•	•	Identification Numbers	•	•
	•	•	•	Connection ID	•	
	•	٠	•	Set passive TOU activation time to	•	
		•	•	Billing Period Reset Settings	•	
		٠	•	Energy Snapshot Settings	•	
	•	•	•	Power Factor Monitor Thresholds	•	
	•	٠	•	Physical Device Addresses	•	IEC
	•	•	•	Optical and Electrical Interfaces	•	
	•	٠	•	Interfaces Communication Unit	•	
	•	•	•	Operating Mode RS485	•	
	•	•	•	IEC Access on Communication Unit	•	
		•	•	CS/S0+ Type	•	
	•	•	•	PIN Code	•	
	•	•	•	Modem Telefon Number	•	
		•	•	Passwords	•	•

Execute Commands

				User Group		
				Consumer (final customer)		
				Reader		
				Installation (field use)		
				Engineering (laboratory use)		
				Certification		
				Execute Commands	dlms	IEC
•	•	•	•	Billing Period Reset	•	•
•	•	•	•	Neutralize KA/KB Inputs	•	
	•	•	•	Test Mode on/off	•	•
	•	•	•	Reset Battery Operating Time	•	•
	•	•	•	Activate passive TOU now	•	
			•	Reset all Registers	•	
			•	Reset Energy Registers	•	•
			•	Reset Energy Total Registers	•	
			•	Reset Error Register	•	•
			•	Reset Diagnostic Registers	•	
			•	Reset Counters	•	
			•	Reset Demand Registers	•	٠
			•	Reset Stored Values	•	٠
			•	Reset Load Profile	•	٠
			•	Reset Event Log	•	W5
			•	Reset Alarm	•	
			•	Reset Alert	•	

Diagnostic Functions

					User group		
					Consumer (final customer)		
					Reader		
					Installation (field use)		
					Engineering (laboratory use)		
					Certification		
					Diagnostic Functions	dlms	IEC
•	•	٠	•	•	Load Profile Analysis *	•	
٠	٠	٠	•	•	DIP Table	•	
•	•	٠	٠	•	Reset DIP Table	•	
		٠	•	•	GSM Installation Support	•	
		•	•	•	Vector Diagram	•	
		•	•	•	Security System *	•	

* MS Excel is required to perform these diagnostic functions.

13 List of Abbreviations

This chapter explains abbreviations used in this user manual or on dialog windows of the Landis+Gyr MAP110 application in alphabetical order.

Abbreviation Definition Description dlms **Distribution Line Message Specification** Messaging system defined originally as part of the application layer of the protocol stack for distribution line carrier systems (IEC 61334-4-41, 1996). Its universality and its independence of the actual communication channel allowed dlms to become the choice of the metering industry for any metering application (Device Language Message Specification). **EDIS Energy Data Identification System** Identification number system for clear identification of energy data according to DIN 43863-3:1997. **Global System for Mobile communications** GSM Wireless communication network for data and voice transmission. HDLC **High Level Data Link Control** Communication protocol used by COSEM (IEC 62056-46), specifying the data link layer. The HDLC standard is ISO/IEC 13239, 2000 (second edition). Some older COSEM implementations rely on the first, 1996 edition of the standard. IEC International Electrotechnical Commission IEC 62056-21 is the standard "Electricity metering - Data exchange for meter reading, tariff and load control - Part 21: Direct local data exchange". This is the third edition of the formerly well-known standard IEC 61107 (IEC 1107). MAP **Meter Application Product** The MAP software tools have been developed and distributed by Landis+Gyr to support electricity meters. This group of tools comprises the MAP 110 Service Tool and the MAP120 Parameterization Tool. OBIS **Object Identification System** Identification number system for clear identification of dlms items. **PSTN** Public Switched Telephone Network The public switched telephone network can be used for data transmission. To this purpose a modem (modulator/demodulator) must be inserted between computer and telephone network and also between the telephone network and the remote meter. **VDEW** Vereinigung Deutscher Elektrizitätswerke VDEW is the central organisation of the German electrical industry. It combines and represents the interests of its members and is consultant and

forward-looking body for energy questions (refer also to www.strom.de).

14 Index

Access level selection	. 33
Access levels	. 83
Addressing meters	. 34
Advanced communication settings	. 31
Application of access levels	. 84
Application of MAP110 functions	. 59
Auxiliary functions	. 76
Baud rate	. 32
Bit assignment in EDIS status word	. 63
Changing the license	. 13
Command execution	. 24
Command tree	. 22
Communication examples.	.35
Communication profiles	.30
Communication settings	. 29
Communication unit	58
Conditions for the use of this user manual	. 50 ר
Conventions	כ ר
Conv	5
display window	75
trace window content	. 75
vector diagrams	. 20
Current version of the program	. / 1
Default passwords	. // //
Default passwords	, 4 2 70
De-IIIStaliauon	. 79
Delete trace willdow	. 20
Derito version	ŏ
Device address	. 34
Diagnostic commands	. 69
Diagnostic functions	.98
DIP table	. 74
reset	. 75
Direct connection	. 29
Display window	. 25
dims	. 99
Echo handling of interface	. 32
EDIS	. 99
EDIS status word	. 63
Edit trace window content	. 26
Emergency readout	. 66
Emphasising commands available in the command tree	. 24
Entering license data	. 12
Ethernet connection	. 52
Evaluation window	. 27
Event types	. 62
Examples of OBIS identification codes	. 90
Execute commands	, 97
Export display window content	. 25
Fields of application of MAP110 and MAP120	7
First steps	. 15
Folder handling	. 23

for IEC meters
per user group
Functions of the MAP1107
Further documents
GSM installation support
HDI C
IFC 90
Ignore baud rate switching
Installation of the MAP110
Interface to meter
Internet connection
IP address
Licence data
License kev entry
Licensing
Licensing concept
List of abbreviations
Load profile analysis
Local multiple connections via RS232/RS485 interfaces
Local noint-to-point connection via Ethernet
Local point to point connection via ontical reading head
Local point to point connection via PS232 interface
Mar
Manu har
Meter security system
Meter type selection
Modem connection 20 20 40 44 48
Multiple connection $20, 29, 40, 47, 40$
Network delays
OBIS identification codes
Object identification system OBIS
Online help
Darameter overwriting protection
Parsword protection
Passwords
Physical device address 21.32
$\begin{array}{c} \text{Point-to-point connection} \\ 35 40 48 \\ \end{array}$
Print
display window 75
display window

Remote multiple connection via V22b PSTN modem	. 44
Remote point-to-point connection via GSM modem	. 48
Remote point-to-point connection via the Internet	. 55
Remote point-to-point connection via V34b PSTN modem	. 40
Reset DIP table	. 75
Save	
display window content25,	, 75
trace window content	. 26
Screen areas	. 19
Security attributes	. 83
Security switches	. 83
Security system71,	, 83
Setting color for inactive commands	. 78
Settings for access levels	. 33
Simple read commands	. 59
Status bar	. 27
Support	. 81
System requirements	9
Target group of this user manual	3
TCP/IP connection	. 29
Tool bar	. 20
Trace window	. 26
Tree items	. 23
Tree representation	. 23
User groups	8
User interface	. 19
VDEW	. 99
Vector diagram	. 70
Write commands	, 96